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THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF BEY YORK, f Before :

--against- . 'l HOIT, EDWARD .SwABF,
. 'JiJ JHHPf .'

CHARLBS SCHMIDT, impleaded with :
. and a Jury. .IfflHK ' '

' ' '

HENRY LAffO.

Hew York, January 12, 1910

Indiotaent filed December 21, 1909

Indicted for ro"b"bery in the first degree, &o.

APPKABAHOES.
. Mi HpSHBI

POR THK PEOPIB: ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY CHARLES P. BOSTWICEj S
POR THE DEPEKTAHT: MR. V. 0. KIER.

Peter P. iXoftughlin,' ;

Official Stenographer.
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C Jri:t HfflB'

" '

MHr ' '' -- oioopwurthe ease t)8feH?'
-- Hgp People; . ,Jfeagyfe . ,

jBBBB9Bi r$ttiii5&!&li--'- -

aBBBlHEyStiSrlS'- - ' V JuslBBB '

IBBK?
N

. ,-
- -P; R A N'K" B- - Y R "H B, a witness""' for--- ,. the"'TV- -

Pple;i)eingSii3-'.- TTT- "-- TT.- w- - "JSOHH

JafiBr
3Bk';; ' avnimsworn,. faf1f4ffritestified asno follows:Pril 1 rtor :Bl9SBM

ji-S.'v-v:-';-'i'hri-
r

Q, Where dodo youyou live?live? 'AA 838838 GirardGirard ayenue;ayenue. " :B
&i-- " 0.Q HowHow oldold areare you,you, Byrne?Byrne? AA 20.20. ""wHB

(Bfe? '--

',-

;

-- '$Li'Q WhatWhat iaia youryour 'business?business? AA Electrician.Elootrioian. '
"-'I-

B

BBl8Rf'''--
7

"

f . T0Do m --mmmjmmremembers 4-V- iathe i4rrV4- - of VnwaMVittNovember IT andanil the-- V '
-- ".' ''tSSbB

JKpr-- - Qt --ww youJVU jtouicuuwo j"b nightufv u jim f uuww.i. 13,, -- . , :f,V.-?-- B

morning of November 14th last? A Yes, sir -

Q Do you know Hnry Piatt? A Yes, sir
I SSBHH

q Do you know the defendant, Charles Schmidt?

A sirYes i HMHHBsVlH ''

0. Do you know -- oxury Lang? A ves, sir.
q, Are any of those persons known by nioknames?

A Henry Lang, we used to call him Heine.

Q, Aro you known by a nickname? A Yesy. sir. ,.'.:
,-- i tiz-- .

-- , - B H ,- - BBS BH
-- -'

' " .JiKBiK " " ssl l"
- lissl

U, hat in it? A Huokle.
sam' i ;r v -t-,- .mmKbi :

. VBJB9flBAHK;Wjfe' BFBS' ISbmbSoIbf BWK-BB- S

.- .SS.fiCir.-i-- , waiflEO ! ;-jWBbWT-
BF aBS

BieBaHP.HSJB, -- i ,B1



what WaB'Iailg'SRaiteT;' A. Heine "

B&m . iImw1

SH4- - ; '' Hiw 0 yituftpHaijisf'A I guess it is H1;E ,

Jf"'
foitfSehaiAt?

tHBTHE COURTCOURT,t muttmutt, waswas thethe nextnixt nitkaasenitkaa&e , iwLw'' "

MR. BOSTWICK: Hot sirr Huckle was 'for Byrae 1ggSSKV

' r--
THE COURT: That is this witness.?

J?

HR BOSTWICK: Yes, sir. I brine the faolsl
IM'Mv, '

out as it may appear later in the testijaeny that

they speak of these people in this way and we wantA (j

to know who they are talking about.
teW 'glgr BOSTWICK: . J

"fa
. ... . . .m n j J -- j - - -- '''wxioru ma you xxrst see any or tnoae tnree persons? u

A 149th street and Courtlandt avenue, hack of the saloon.

Kf" Q What street? A 149th atreet.EJ

Q And Courtlandt avonue? A Yes, air.
THE COURT: You aee wo want that last Juror,

to hear you, every word you say. How, if you Just
4

talk to him all the balance can hear you. You .

oannot shout it too loud.

BY HR. BOSTWICK:

sBsf rBwL
Q Did you meet there by appointment or accident, H

ma 149th street and Courtlandt avenue? A Met there by .appoint

ment with Henry Piatt

BBP
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illii jm

',
f Kew did ytu eese ts eengrsgate ereet at kisik A 'A- - Jkplaee, whest salee waa it a aaloon? A A aalowi, ysW iJ

1 A
Q, l9Wtret and Ceurtlandt ateaue?; A Wall tk,-rS- :

'v f 4 rfour qf us t
E- - .

4 ? --T
J Q Who were they? A Piatt, Lasg, Schmidt and BayselT

5.H- - .

f,

And yourself? A Ybb, air if.
Si 4

;.
q, What did you do there? A We had two drinka, two vA

. 1? 1
.
,

V t -

H .. . , .t V M,' '

rounds ? ic j-- . rof drinks . jta
I . r,V --ff?Jj
'.. "

i-SJVlM- tt.' M

Q What did you drink? A Beer " l .
' r1 A3

V,f
a

. ... ... ... . .. , ,:. . .q adoitg wnax ximo was v wnen you met tnerov1 , A. .Aoout

half paat ten

Q When you arrived there or when you left? A Whenf X

I arrived there.
m

BY" THB COUBTt

q, That was 1030 pm? A, Yea, sir.
BY MR. BOSTWICKt

V jjiu i

Nowt what tine did you leave there? A About half-pa-st laaT'aaaaB) sal

11 h BBb

BBBBBBTBaf
Q, Where did you go from that plaoe? A To Protection 'WaW'l

ar"

Hall, 152nd otreot and Courtlandt avenue.

Q Who wentwith you?. A Piatt, Schmidt, Lang and ,

myself.

Q, Wao there anything coins on at that place that aBs j aaai bbh

ir jai- -
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algkt? X lM air; a aaatt ,,..-- m 1'It?, 1 BSJBJHSSBlBPSaflB

Q, You did net go to the dance, did you? A Ke sit
Hi?, ', it. U ,:

Q, When. X My you Z mean any one of the four .:.
v

, J..--A nose of the four went to the dans? A No air .

-- 'B .MV .

J.
iii ; - Q But downstairs there was a drinking place? .

Jf'

v
f A Yes, sirf" .A- - i VS j:it

Q What did you do down there? A Wo had one
'5. A''JwloHr 1 '

drink, one round of drinks
eh t$gCiH' ;

fes -- . q, You had one round of drinks? A Yes, sir s: ; SraH - '

Q, Tell us what happened after that? A Well Z

left tho three of them sitting at ths table and I went in

the toilet Z camo out Then they disappeared, about four

or five minutes afterwards , Z didn(t think nothing of it -- 1
I stood at the door, a orowd came down for supper, Z stood 1

r n

', watching them and all of a sudden a fellow named Mr Al
t-- ?

breoht pushed me aside , he ran out the door, Z thought

? there was something the matter, Z ran out too and Z
Ti i

found Piatt and ttr. Alhreoht'u anas

q Was he bleeding? A yes, sir
q Who is Ahlhreoht? A He was one of the witnesses

THE COUHTi Ho lias not appeared, that name

has not appeared before in the' testimony?

. MR BOBTWZCK; Ho, sir
Q You found Piatt in Ahlbreoht's arms? A You, sir

'sP--BISBkH
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b .fy '. Jmtr?'A. t v
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.-- V.. ! h

'i- - AvKUtt was wtuftt?T A Yti, sir ,&&
J6 ? V

.I1 v iMi bbbbi ibbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbmsi
BT THB COURT:

d; Tltoat sort of a wound was It?
'&

MR BOSTWXCKj X hare. the surgeons here.

IS '- -
'A

f-.jiSSf-

lllEiB

CROSS-KXAMUTAT- IOH BY MR. KIER:&s
. . ' lx - essi.-- .

now, you ana Bonsiiat, this young man here, and Lang , qbTSBm"". frf ? : $? '

i V "J
and Piatt the ooaplalnant all met down at 149thstreet

and Courtland avenue about 1030? A Yes, sir
. filial,K - .iffaLAijfaiHaL.

o You were all there friends for about an hour or so?. r ii'StdwIraS
i &, , IjSwHBS,

A yes, air. , jap
Q, Ho disorder of any kind between you? A Ho, sir.

m;v Q, This man Lang nor any one there was haying any trouble
it-- -

with this man or Lang,-- - nor any one there was having any

trouble with Lang? A Not that I know of.
i

Q You were with the boys, you were all good fellows?
m

A Never had any trouble with them when I was there

You were all drinking, good fellows? A Yes, sir1, 'S1BB
Q, You went outr the same three, Lang, the oomp lainant

and the boy up to 152nd street? A yes, sir
Q That is three or fouxr blocks away, isn't it?

A yes, sir
Q That is up to Protection Hall? A yes, sir'
Q, That is right? A Yes,slr
Q Now then did you get there about 11.30? A Yes,; sir.
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q Ysu. staysd thtre swsetiae? A Yts, sir. IP
ISSISIBVVf Q, An hour or two together? A Around that

Q You and Xaag and Bchwidt and the complainant wertt;
.-

-

.

-- ' "l1?
3'all good friends there? A Yea, sir

- Q, Ho trouble at all? A No, sir
Q, Then the crowd came down from upstairs, of Polaoks

r I believe, were they? A I douldn't. say for sure, X guess
A

V
'?' they were

Q, Thoy wore aoming down from upstairs?

mi" . THE OOURT: What makes you think that
a r'"'

' is that material? . .s
UR. KIER: I think it is.

BY THE COURTi

Q Were they foreigners? A Yes, sir
Q, Were they speaking a foreign language? A yes, sir.
Q, Bid you ro oo grilse what language it was? A Ho, air.

BY MR. KH2U

Q Thoy all oome down to go out, a orowd of them?

A Yes, sir.
ty Then it was you hoard about this trouble, io that

right? A It waa only one went out, that was Mr. Albrooht,

he ran out of the door, pushed me as ids

Q, I am talking of the orowd coming downstairs? A Going

in the next room for supper

.- -



jMMjWWWMMWPWWWawiMpWPWIW. 1.1 ill I... II. HWWWtSBPCCySWBWPBPWBIWvU SWWHWu.T'
HdaMWHMHMUWifyJIdlltfHHHHUaHnMMgLtflflW tafc& tto'Vi

TOPP$r!w , ,, . .'SKI
ft- -

HK'nB fc.

Coming downstairs from supper? A Yes,, sir
BEu&

EPJf' S

Q yre upstairs downstairs? A Yes sir.
W THE COURT: YiN

v. -- r

-- . ,.

. . .

' .
;..
' ' ' A 'i :-

- K , 3tf'iLfnH?ne oanoe was .upstairsy a yes sxr ,
f'-?- "v - -- vratfBim''

'
. ". - r

" . & t "lflSR
Q, Ihat sort of a danee was.it, given fcy whoa do yo'umcaow?

. is .TtSsbv?
vsSgw

MR, OSTWICK: That will "be "brought out later ,

BY MR. K1ER:

Q, About SO of them were coming down there?

A Yes, sir,
i Was that at the hack part of the saloon they were

f..r .TJ8Sjf.f
,

coming down? A It was right at the entrance to the saloon.; ': -
- v ii twrm

Q, Hear where this other trouble ooourred? A Yee, sir.
Q Hear where you saw ang in AlfcreohtU arsis?

&&

A Y8i

seiK H Or at least Piatt? A Yes, sir
Q It was right "before you saw Piatt in Ahlbreoht's

w;'

arms that tula orowd was coming down? A Yes, sir
q It was right close "by there? A Yes, sir
Q There was a lot of oonfusion, of course, was there not?

A yOB, sir,
Q All around?

(Ho answer,) BBBBBsl'iWBBbL' B

KB-DIH- ECT KXAMIHATIOH BY MR BOSTWICKj

Q, Hone of those people that oame down from the dance sssfir , H

V
rf s:W

It-- t
. .

. ... ',- - J-''.M.- -

U' .''



mm.
?' ran

T

wtat eat ef the door, Aid they? A Ke, air, -

JHWJ? 1
,

' MR. KtSRt X a'bjeet to that !1
itf

' Jf f

BY MR. K1ER: V?'m

Q There was about 80 coming down? A Yea, air , S-'- &

0 You didn't watch eaoh one of the 50? A I was rightf
v ; ,s .

at the entrance of the door

Q Did you see every one of the 50 to know where any

one night have gone, out of the door? A Yea, sir...

Q, Did they march down like eoldie re? A Ho, sir,v

marched out pretty orderly though.

Q, There was no captain or anything? A No, sir.
Q, Marching in crowds you were not particularly

interested In any one of them whether they went into that
s- -

room or not? A No, sir; I was not interested in them,,

Q, There was a orowd of 50 and you only watohed them as
JSJk
? a orowd? A Yea, sir

Q, You only saw them as a orowd? A Yes, air
Q, You weren't watching them at all any more than seeing

them, .you had no Interest in them? A Yea, sir, watching to

see who X knew

BBW 1 Bl '

Q You didntt hear any alteration then, did you?

A No, sir.
Q, You did know a few and you were watohlng for the

ones which you knew? A Y oil



I

mfV
'

-- .

i,

i
w 4 Ytu 4titkatw where imm of the ethers want , did yen,

o- -

yeu dea.t kew aetually where the 50 west? A Z see the all
,- -s go inside.

,aw i

Q, That wore close "by whirre this trouble occurred? . .

&
5 A Yt air :fllBSSKS
rp

KtJ

(
i?v.

.
.

, BY MR. B0STWIQK:
1

If J "

Q Did any one of thorn go out of the door? A Ho, sir;".
I to

THE COURT: In the street that is they, ease
C -- UK--

downstairs.?
--.Mfissr .

HSV'
A Ho, sir
Q, They all went into the dining room? A Yes, sir V .. .lixctilflM

V "&! fW
BY" MR. KIBR: . jliflP

ut?" q X want to ask you again, you say about 50 case

down, you didnt watoh each and every one of the 80,
J.

they were oaose to that door when they came down, weren't

they? A Yes, Birt

Q, It tobk them how long to come downstairs, 10 or
:j" '

15 minutes? A Yes, sir..
I

Q, During that time you domt know whether one or

two slipped out of that door, do you? A I didnt see-nobod- y

slip out.
B) SM

q, You wont swear somebody didnt go out of that door?

A No, sir, I wonit swear to it.
BY THE COURT:



& m w

-- jWlrt'T"

t Hurt were yeu standiae? A Right by the deer.
Q That is the door that lead into the street?

yee, sir.
q, How, did you see anybody go by you into the street

,7?
while standing there? A I didnit take notice; SSifSfySsrrhJ- -

BY MR. KI2R: T & aslll

Q You didntt take notioe? A Ko, air,
MR. KSHR: That is all.

,2mnMR. BOSTWICK: I am going to call two witnesses
a-raS- IK

JUK'....'" "

out of the regular order so that they can go "back to
sassr

the hospital
&- - THK COURT: Very well.

' "-- Hi Mlm

WT- -

MA R K J, OOTIIEIB, M, B., a witness called onr"b- e- jjm

half of the People, being duly sworn, testified as follows

DIRECT EXAMIHATION BY MR. BOSTWICK:
if
Hi

Q, Where do you reside? A I reside at the Lebanon t sssassH
fc,"'' Hospital.

.-

-

.'

Are you a physician connected with that hospital?
' isiBlllisisisisV
BeW4, sllsH''

A yes, sir.
iy

Q, What hospital? A Lebanon Hospital. f

BSSSSgSSSSSJ.H4!Ln B-- ;
--

"

v-g-

H

q Where is that? A Corner of Westchester and CaVildWf- c-
''

1

well ayenuoB, Bronx
.

v'-'- . ei'
w.. 'MKmfSaVr r: V

' IBBSBTBSBSBfe BBBH
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'SfM rr. jB Isi '

1 1 '
y-- v

i A '

q, Mew ltg hare yeu seea associate with thatK
.

r- -

.IK'-- 1 X hespital? A Siaee Marsh 6, 1909.
ft'V .

WAt.n

Ci In what oapaeity? A in the capacity of intern
TjUesSaK

5 't MR, TCtTfft; There Is no question of the doetorU
. .. v

ooapetency Wo will agree that he la a competent

gentleaan In his profession

BY MR. BOSTWICKx

Bo you remember the oase of Henry Piatt , who was

brought to that hospital? A Yest sir
Q, Where did you first see him? A First saw him, If

I reeolleot correctly, about on November 14, at 152nd street
i

and Courtland avenue on the Inner side of a fence adjoining .

a saloon.

Q The jury cannot hear you. Will, you repeat that?

A On November 14th at 152nd street and Courtland avenue oh
W fr v.

the Inner side of a fenoe adjoining a saloon

Q, Did you go there on an ambulafeae? A yes, sir
w

Q, In response to an ambulance call? A yea, sir,
Q, About what time was it when you got there? A Well about

I should say about 2.30 In the morning, I dontt know exactly.

Q, Would you kindly desoribe the condition in whioh you

found Henry Piatt upon arriving at that place at that time?

A Pound the patient lying flat on the ground, on his baok

He would not respond to any stimulation! he would not respond



MSIPWWMHWBIWIIlWWPlgl uimiiwiiii mini irTmnnimnnr i n 1 1 n -- " ;rai.; Brm

B&r v .Vf,- - ' p : .r.-'-v'...-
!

HHAX

US!- - bleeding from the left side of hie head, and on examiaatieft
f w

at the time I found a wound about one inoh long on the

left aide of hie head and about two inches above and a little be 0- - '

hind the left ear in rough terms of course in medical

terms I oould give you a more accurate description.
5t t

q What did you do for him? A I applied a bandagey
. f

F W"i8p -

put him in the ambulance.- - and took him to the hospital.

s' q Was he still unoonsoious when you put him in the

ambulance? A Yes , sir.
,

A
-

w
iff 7' q How long was it before he regained consciousness?

A I should say about a half an hour; he was never fully
?v

conscious until for some hours after the assault.

q What was the nature of the wound that had been

inflicted? A It was a laceration of the scalp down to the - M.

bone.

q Was it an incised wound? A It did not look so.
' Hm 'iSBHB. Ha

q It did not look so? A Ho, sir.
q Prom its appearance conyou atate what, in your

nature of the instrumentopinion, was the instrument, oru.
that vas used?

MR. KIER: Objected to. ' !,,
q Which caused this wound? r

THE COURT: He may state whether a blwnt



f- - VJya, w.
. t? . l l

&.-H- L

vr
T& 4 '

c r. lo.
fear? instrument caused it;

MB. KIKRj Objected to.
THE COURT: A physician oan tell with reason-

able certainty whether it was caused by a blunt or SBSSKTa

sharp instrument.

B5T MR. BOSTWICKJ mmmz'

Q Can you tell the jury whether the wound that you

saw was' caused by a sharp instrument or by a blunt instrument?
74- -

A I dont think that is a fair question

Q, You mean to say that you cannot? A That is deductive', 1 &&
5

B"S and not evidence
P y a
Nf Q Well it is evidence provided- -

MR. BOSTWICK: I will frame another question, ,

ft
BY THE COURT:

q Was the wound such as would have been caused by coming

in contact with a stone?

MR, KIKR: I object to that question,

THE COURT: That is subject to objection

but there is no objection in asking if he knows

from an inspection of the wound whether it was caused

Bk f SSm
by some blunt Instrument or by some sharp one, and

'F&PJ' BBS
HSKJlBfef1 9by an instrument I don9t mean necessarily a weapon

some blunt object,

MR, KIER: Striking against the wall you might

BSSSSfeLZ
SBBBBSl

"77 ;
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vr i" v. i.: "i, sr-ms-r i - ?'u

. .u .: ". tw '. .ijs- -
.I T J ' i S? ! ,W ' K' i

' I a "' "fI Ui
-- ".

-- -,

pff inelude that. ,

THB COURT: Yea, he is not telling whether

his head was aaashed against the mil,
MR. KXZRi He has said it was not an indeed

wound.
W ,

THB COURT: He can toll whether it was done

with a sharp instruments
fcK

BY UR 30STWICK:

Q, Was the wound suoh a wound as oould have been caused

by coming in oontaot with a stone? A It oould be a wound

that might bo inflicted by any blunt instrument, that leaks

far as I can state.o"F.
THE COURT: That is all that he oan say.

BY KR. BOSTWICK:

Q, How long was he in the hospital? A That I dont
irV

know.

Cfc Has he, as a result of that accident, received any

permanent injury? A Well, I do know that thoman before he BBBBBBBBBBBaBBBBai
BBBBBBBBBI BBBB BBBBBBBBB) BBBBB

was struck oould hear very well out of his left ear and now iBBBBBBBBBBra7IBBBl
faaaaaaaaaaaaaaa-- B

he has some difficulty in hearing.
W Q The hearing of the left ear is the one that is . impair

ed? A Yea, sir,
V

CR0S8-EXAMINAT- I0H BY MR. KIKR:

q You say that you do know that he oould hear well from

the left ear. You have no personal knowledge of that, that
Has X-- -



w H
5W 'tfrfwV 'i

E?4y.ut '

7"t Hf
r, i 'n iifly

T
what you were tela? A I hare been telaieCv

'?
UR. IOT: I ask that that toe strlfkto cut

.-
-' THE COURT: It lsn it really Material anyway

XR. KXSR: X don't think it is tout X ask

., that it ho stricken out

tr- -
- THE WITNESS: X think the house surgeon

i- -4jti .,i'.t&? can give you more positive information

Q, Dodotor, as you state, that wound that you saw could

W-- a have been made by striking a stone wall or a stone step or
f-

a hard substance like that? A I said a blunt instrument,

THE COURT: A baseball bat could have done it."

MR KIER: It oould have been also done by

striking a wall or a step or some hard substance?

THE COURT: Those are defined as blunt instru-

mentsfi '
K5- - "

f-
-.

Q, Won't you say that a blunt instrument oould be any

of those things, a wall, a step or anything like that?
BBsTW

A Yes, air. 1 sssssssssssssSsssssssf

bbbbbVIbbbbbbVh

BBBBBB" BBJ

?f DAVID J08EPH, a witness called on behalf of

the people being duly sworn , testified as follows:
bbbbbVLsbbbbbYtbbbbbt

DIRECT EXAUIHATION BY MR BOSTWICK:

Q, Where do you live? A 718 Fifth street, City..
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.
. jTiLi... aa . w . .. ,.wik1 - T" mwwnn' TV .r fc-- ""i A "" v" I-- 1 - - - -V" 'TH 9V ysu are asjHtaetsa with tha foaimitmit ;

t: : o to- -

)ffi. Xiat: Z will sensed that Dr.. Joseph is a
y owBptttnt an goed physician.

BV MR BOSTWICK:
- ' t '.

?W3

q What relation do you bear to the hospital?

Av House surgeon t

1k ""V "

,
ss-- i

fcW Q, Do you remember the case of Henry Piatt , a patient

there? A Yes, sir.

if
Q. When did you first see him? A . On the morning of

ifil.

November 14th. 'iW
j Kt"

J'.
q Will you state his condition when you saw him?

A Well I found him unconsoious but able to respond. to queer
P,t3

tions after a little close questioning) he would not respond

Just to the ordinary question but had to be aroused, He was

very excitable and wanted to get out of bed but after a little
Vi

r-fsr-
jP

- '. while he quieted down totally unconscious.
What

q I want you to describe is the nature and extent of any
'BVMBSMj

wound that he had, if any? A yes, ir, he had ho had a

small scalp wound on the side of his head.
i BBSEmmH

Q, Will you speak bo that the last juror can hearw
you? A He had a small soalp wound on the left elds of his

BBbW B BBBb
"

head, in medical terms it was right over the parietal region BBB 'LBBl SLl '
HbV ' bbIk H!BBBBBlh " jej

just a little above the ear. a little baok of and above the

ear, right over the curved of the skull, extending right down lfrP 1

SrBS
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:

the sett aaa us apparent break f the bene thaV wefeeula
,

'''.' '

ss at that time

Q Hew long was ho In the hospital? A Well, that I
'

cannot remember, he was discharged! after sometime It is oh

jthe reeords there.
Q, Did he stay over the first night? A yes, sir, he stay--V

ed for several weeks

Q, Seme six or eight weeks? A The exact tine I don't
know

Mra

Q, Was it an inoiaed wound, Doctor? A Well, it .was

more it was a lacerated wound
-

Q Tt was not an incised wound? A How do you mean?

Q, I understand that a cut wound done "by was it
done "by a out or was it done by some sharp instrument or by

some lunt instrument? A On the scalp a blunt instrument

might produoe the same wound as a sharp instrument, on the

skull.
Q, Only as far as the scalp is concerned? A Yes, sir,.

Q, From tha nature of. the wound as you saw it might it
not have been done by a blunt instrument? A Surely.

q, Has Piatt so far as you know any permanent injury J

as the result of that accident? A So far as I know well 8,J

I think he has, I donit know this really that he has
f
I

some slight deafness, he has some deafness

,

!

I

JJ--: ....- -
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q, He has imo 4fni? A Yei, sir; imm defeityFv s 'fc. . .

V.J
THE COURT J He can state that he has new aeae

'4T deafness. -
'.'we4

i ' -

THE WITNESS: The extent Of his deafness -- IN
xGHBJSJBMB.

dontt know, hut he has some deafness and boms defor is? ?, QSBri', iv gx 4atr v i "

mity

BY MR, BOSTWICK:

Q What deformity? A The injury of the scalp and some

'J.V portion of his hone which was removed at the time of the
a

operation.
fr

q Was ho operated upon? A Yes, sir.
Q When? A The day of admission

q What operation was performed? A He wastrephined 4

Q, By trephining do you mean that a circular saw is used?

A Hot necessarily,

Q, What do you mean by trephtming?

XR. KIERi X object to thatt,

Q What do you. mean by trephining? A Well any. instru

ment can be used in trephining, BBBSrSSSBBBSSBB

Q, What instrument was used in this case?' A Well
W

we used a trephine saw. a circular saw.

Q You used a circular saw? A Ya -- ri a.piroular saw BBsV'jBBtaLi lV

j
but not the kind of a saw you mean it doesnt toakcany dif--

' BBBBBBBBBHsBBBBBBBH

SSBL,BSsreVssHpSr, Bsss
--rfPS-

BBSl
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Ifere w!at saw it used r what iastrtweritv

i& Q What did yeu de in this case? A They removed afiarfc mr
of the ne of tha skull

:

'. 1 v; jEtfTflEassR- -

I --f Q Did that expose the brain? A Yes, sir; that did 'uSBhBbi

not expose it exoept; the covering of the brain. " t.fBPSji

q, What was done after the trephining? A Veil, there:

were several small parts of the hone removed on eaoh side, fi8sjHsp4

g'f'!!' smoothing out the opening, enlarged it and the underlying
--r

.v struoture was -- j

,!' Q What was done with thepieoe of hone taken away as
i'&e. a result of the trephining operation? A Wo threw?? that,
& away, we done use that,

Q, The patient got along without it? A He dooa get

along

Q What did you substitute for it? A Nothing.

Q We find something there now? A Ho, sir.
Q Still a hole? A Yes, sir, nothing exoept the

skin, the scalp and the musole underneath.

Q, is that not a dangerous condition in which to he? bsWbI
A Well it is all connected with some danger

Q, In other words a blow on that portion of the body

would that be any more fatal than a blow, upon a part of

the skull where there was bone? A Ho, sir, not unless it
penetrated the brain, but in the natureof things it could be

H'SSSSS Bp.
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pea trate sere readily where thtrt vu ho tout?
MR. 1CX2R Objected to. X think we get eaeugh - . 7f

about this fellow' injury.

CROSS-XXAMINAT- ION BY MR. KIER:

Q, The man the way he is now can live until he is 90
s3HBP -

as far as that is concerned? A Yes, sir.
Q, You started out by telling us it was ,a snail wound

of the scalp? A YeBi air a nrnall wound of the soalp.

Q, You followed lay saying a blunt instrument . When

you used the word instrument that could be a step, a tone-wa- ll

or anything of that kind? A I dont.t mean that.
Q When you use the word blunt instrument, that may be

that his head struck against a stoop or a stonewall?

A Yes, sir, surely. js

s u Q, That is what you mean, it would produce the same thing?

A yes, sir.

JOSEPH ZACHARZOWSKY, a witness called

on behalf of the people, having been duly sworn, iss iiiiiV Alalia

testified as follows. PfM1 '

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. BOSTWICK: BSSSSSjSBSSSSaLBSSSSf s

Q Whore do you live? A 639 Courtland avenue.
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Mr. Zaefcarsewsky, near what street i tlmt? A Crmer 1p- -

of 102ad street arid Courtland avenue
'$''

Q Hew old are you? A 51 years of age.
ibse.

q Will you kindly speak so that the Jury r all of these id

. jurors at this end of the hpx can hear you Are you the
-- proprietor of protection Hall? A yes, sir

SA

Q, What is the nature of that institution? A Well I
I'i got on the oorner9 I got a "barroom or oafo, and in the "back

sfm from the cafe is a howling alley r and I use it occasionally,
llft&. I use it whenever I have any suppers served served from the

hall room. ' I use the howling alley for a dining room I
4got a hall upstairs, not too "big, and I let it out exclusively

only to societies; I wouldntt run no open dance whatever,

Q, Did you have any society there on the night of November

13th? A yes , sir,
Q, What society did you have there? A That was a Bavarian

society, they had what they call oelhrating the Kurftrie
Q, They had a dance? A Yes, sir. they had three pieces

of raueio. 'BSsb71
'

Q This dance is upstairs? A Yes, sir BSBBBm ' ' M

Q Do you remember this particular night, Hovemher 13, BBBBSW 'k --
"

:BBBBBS "

- 'SBSS--
B'' 'BBH -

and the morning of November 14th? A Yes, sir.
Q, Something occurred there? A Yes , sir
Q, You recollect that inoident? A Yeo, sir J BBsT"- -r esj bbbh

'bsssbssbB

BBBm ! BSBSBaBsV .jjjjjjjjjjjjjjjH
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5 Dt ys knew the AtfsnAant' gelsaidt? A Y, lirv,
i IP--

Q, Ds ysu knew Harry Ia? A Well, I seen hist, I knew

fela y appearance, Taut I never knew that his neat was y&nrj '"

-

t J !"
Q Did yeu know him by the name of Heine? A Neither ,.J

ft
'

that J. I only Been him when I passed 149th street , X seen a t
r - i

1-- 4
young fellow of that kind of appearance, and I seen his
around
hang the corners - --'it

fi s
"

,

;.- -

Q 3)o you know Prank Byme7 A I didnjt know -- him,
,,. i

-

I know him now "but I didn,t know him before; I didn't o,-- .
.

3.
,itO
iKJt?y '

take notiwe to him e t &'
? i

Bt
Q, Do you know the name of Huokle? A-- No, sir -- lxa

Q Did you know Henry Piatt? A No, but I know him,

he knew me but I oouldntt rooolleot.
who k

Q You know they are now? A Yes, sir,
(?

Q, Were any of these four people in your place on the

night of November 13th or on the morning of November 14th?

A Yes, sir.
Q, State when you first remember seeing them in your

place that night? A Xtwas just around 12 o'clock and being
BBsYBBBBBBsf '

J ipt around 12 o'clock I Just went in the back room, and they

had a round of drinks, I served them with a round of drinks,
'bVLbw M

and then I seen that the defendant here, Schmidt, and Lang,

and the other two gentlemen, Piatt and what they coll Huokle BH LJ BB '

1 BkBBBJ
F;

Bbb-- H
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Q Attar they had the round of drinks what happened?

A Well X was busy serving suppers for the party; there was

a party--, it was attended "by about 50 or 60. I was busy,

I had two waiters working with me I went in the hade, te

the dining room, to attend to the suppers there, they were

getting supplied with the meals that they ordered

fr Q, You went in the "back. You mean on the downotairs

floor? A No. sir, in the dining room! everything that I

had was on the ground floor.
q is tnat tne aming naaj.7 a yes, oir, wnat i use as ';&$"&

-- V
fT

H ,

dining room,
rV --.

Q, When you say dining room you mean that which is-otherwis- e

a howling alley? A Yes, sir
"
i q That ia on the downstairs floor? A Yes, sir the

r- -'

rv
down floor.

q, Hot the floor on which the dance was taking plaoe?

, A .Ho, sir.
q Did the people come downs tniro at thie time ornot?

BSSSSS tHsBSBsV &V

A yes, sir, the people opme downstairs, and I was supplying BSSSSSBSfl

them with suppers.

Q Did all the poople from upstairs come downstairs to
SBSSsV 1

the supper? A There might bo about a dozen that didntt oome

down for supper.
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mr mi'
q StStht happens? A While I was pretty near mi '

tnrougn serviag tne suppes? i went in the harroom.and I et '. '

a .box with change preparing myself to collect for the suppers.
js-.v&- s

au n,jj)ni Jh uw,ouif uw biicm u minut, or x
"V--

10 SA THE WITNESS: (Continuing) And I took a 7
if- -'

'-

-
--,.-

,-'"

.V -- ?
" " ,', ', -- ,

seat, 1 took a seat in front of the door, in 3

1

front of the entrance, and by occupying the seat I
flU
miM? heard Borne kind of a nolae and most certainly it.

is my business to look out whatever it is because :SS

I dldntt hear no disruption whatever.
W.'U

Q, You heard a noise? A yes, sir, I heard a boise outside
-- -.;

k Q, What kind of a noise? A I opened the door I went out

side to the second door to the yard, and I seen the defendant,

Schmidt standing right in the doorway and he says "Come out

you sons of "bitches, come out here in the yard, we are going'

to trim you". So I took the door, the door was open ,

swinging to my right, I caught hold of the door and tried to

close it, about swinging the door, about three-quarte- rs I

heard a crash coming, a sound like a silent explosion,

like a bomb, where you cover it, a silent sound, but a sound,

dull sound but pretty loud X had one of my help alongside
H f "H i.

of mo and he says "Somebody got h- - rt" '' kHL sH '

Q Who was it said this to you?

MR. Kim: I ask that it he stricken out
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THE COURT! It dees,t sadce any diffsreast. 1p- -

THE WITNESS: Jake, neof the witnesses, hers

t who was helping mo out on that niaht. We" turned
7 t &

. , around and we seen a young man standing inside the' door; fiffflgaf
JsnJHB

I opened the door and I seen the defendant Charlie

Schmidt and Henry Lang to run out of the yard.

Q This defendant? A y8 air.
k.&.

T:
- Q And Harry i&ng? a Yes, sir.

r
Q As you opened the door they rah out of the yard?

A ves, air.
Q, Was anybody else in the yard at that time?

A Ho, sir.
Q, When did you see Piatt prior to hearing this sound?

A Whilehe was these behind my cafe, in the small room;

prior to that, I seen him while he was sitting at the table.

Q Did you see him leave that table? A No, sir.
q, You were not an eye witness to that? A No, sir,

because I was in the baok at that time.
' BBflBSJPHBH .

Q, Now after hearing this sound what did you do? A Well BBBBPV'"ISB '

:LHlSSI'B;
St.- -

we assisted that wounded man, we took him in.

q You haventt told us about any wounded man? A After siiiw'"B ' B '

this Sy.iW-BM:-
'

Q Afteryouieard the sound what did you do and find?
Bh ' Bh l

A We turned around and there was a light inside tho door. BMAI H ''

BH
iBBBBBBl ..

' BBlBfclBB.'BBV "
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(i Outside? A YM ir, in .the yard; there was a little
.fellow standing there that helped around, Take Albreoht,

'if MAIM. ilO BAJ "AUCiB AB DBBOWWUJI fcuu JlAb BUFO BIlUUgTi" ? J,fc..

. , ..k.lH
0. Albreoht Is the name you could not remember? E2SHVt

" iu
A Yea 8ir Jacob Albreoht. We turned around, that xaan

had a cap on his head Wo took the cap off,
Q, Who had? A Piatt, Wo took the oap off. We

aeon he was bleeding fiercely We took him inside the

little partition which is betwoen the yard and between my hall-A- n rSm '

.and sat him on the stoop and tried to wash his wound, got
? Is

some hot water from the kitchen and finally, he fainted,

and we oouldntt do nothing else but telephone to Headquarters

to get an ambulance and take him away from the premises

He never said anything , did he he did not say any-

thing
4

after you heard this sound? A No, sir, he didntt
say anything, although while we was attending to him, Jake

Albreoht was attending to him, washing him off with cold wator
BmMBb

it Be ems to me it didn't agree with the wound and he said

"Let go of me y he said, "Let go of mo", that is the expression bbbbbTbbbt bbbbbbbbb) bbI
bbI

' I heard from him. bbbbbbbb

Q Then the ambulance surgeon arrived?
-

' "HMR. KTBR: I ask that the last statement be BBBBBI

eJ

stricken from the record.

THK COURT: Does it hurt your cliont?

1 bbbLL- - bbB

' bbbbbT"!
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,: THE COURT: I wtul4Ht o'bjeot unleia itfewrt.
-- t;i?i-
lffl q Then the ambulance surgeon arrived? A Yes. sir.

--
, .

Q, And took him away in the, ambulance? A Yes, air.
i a-?3BS-

n'

CHOSS EXAMINATION BY MR. KIER: "

V...
q Mr. Zaoharzcwskv, is that it? A Zaoha,rebwky.

q New you said that about, 50 of those persons of the

lr association that was upstairs oame downstairs? A y88i

q And went "back intor your bowling alley? A Dining roosU

q Well it was a howling alley? A Well we use it for
w.

a dining room tho same

THE COURT: It was a dining room then.

BY MR. KIER!

.. q And they all "became seated there? A Yes, sir.
'

i--

q Then you waited on them all? A Yes, sir.
q Then you were waiting for your change or money , is

that it? A I was just in the way of sitting down at the door tr BBBBJ fBBBBBBB BBBfl

to collect the amount for the suppers ' BBBBM
'
SflBB

' SSBbV

bsbb1 ,

. BBJi(4HBBI BJ ,

q But they had all been seated? A Yes, sir, in the T bbblb1.-

-

dining roorn '' i bbbbbbpsbbI '

q Then they all oame down and had been seated and you

had served them when you heard this trouble? A I was Just SBhSSBSSBBl '

they had finished their supper.

tt
BBH BBBBB. BBBBJ
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Q But they had ceme down and had been seated before

this trouble occurred they had been eating? A .Ye sirY

Q, They started to eat? A Yes, sir
Q They were sitting and started to eat? A Yes, sir.
ty Thoy were finishing up? A Yob, air.
0. Before this trouble occurred? A Yea. sir.
Q Then this trouble did not occur just after they were

SMfeaB" - --

:?xSJBJB

coming downstairs, as they were coming downstairs, did it?
'

A Ho, sir.
Q, That is right, is it?

(No answer).
Aa

-- .

q, '.they were coming down stairs to supperthe trouble did 1$

not oc our then? A Y&S, sir.
Q It was sometime after? A Yes, sir, it must have been

about a half an hour after.
q At least a half an hour after they got downstairs?

fimSBHSjl
A Yes, sir.

Q And were seated at dinner? A Yes, sir.
Q, How the trouble ooourred outside, and you were inside

when it ooourrod, werenft you? A Yes, sir.
V'tT B'

0. Of oourse you didntt see who. hit him or anything like Btej' B ,

that, you couldnt see through the door? A Ho, sir.
Q You heard a sound? A Yes, air.
Q Hew then Mr. Zaoharsowsky when you say the defendant
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"Cesw eut ysu sen ef a biteh"' he'' looked Into the
,

barree
. . . t,

. .
" : -- ,.. -- .v'sthat was there, wasnft it, he was looking into the barf?

A, Ho, flip ''.'.'
Q Where was he looking? A He was standing in the yar

Q How many had gone out then? A tfobody had went out.

w q How do you know they didntt go out? A The yard istSK

ft?- -fi' from the street, and the hall is before you reaoh the yard.
i

q Now then where were you standing when he was standing

at the door saying that? A I was going out from the din

ing room When I came out from the dining room there was

two doors before I reached the yard and there is a door leading

J
"( from the little partition between the yard and between my

hall, that wasopen, the outside door which leads direotly

from the little partition to the yard, that is where the defend

ant was standing there, right in the open door.

Q, That was how far away from you? A When I came out

I wasntt about as muoh from him as one foot, I pushed him PVW gjH

back and I Bays "Walk about your business leave my place

alone, walk about your business, dontt create a disturbance

in my place:

Q, You pushed him right baok? A Yes, sir r y
Q, it waB then, in front of you, youheard this sound out-sid- e?

A Ho, sir

BBHBBBBMnLH

BB'LBBBwLk --'BBI
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4 !! when? A I ttotifie to that effect
caught hold of the door, I pushed him back, I saya, talk about I

V I

your business, donft disturb my place " I caught hold of

the door and tried to swing it olosedt and about swinging it
about three-quarte- rs to oloBe it I heard the crash coming. SailBBBfl

K
Q, -- Was the defendant facing you at that mm moment?

v;

iar. A No ali he nouldn.t face ma then bafiauea T had hm dno-- r "hi?
.

- - -- jF 4i:H!X-- , "
.

' -- W'
et 's a i

&??- -

tween him and me.
4 ,- -

I3S- -

(I He was right in front of you, right near you?

A Yes, sir.
the

,

Q XBetvPe en.partially closed door was he? A Yes, sir. .-
-

.-i-i-

WrW

Q, He was where you could see him? A I oouldnit see him

then.

Q, The door wao three-quarte- rs open? A Yes, sir-- ,

three --quarters.

Q You swung it to? A I closed it three-quarte- rs, not

three-quarte- rs open but three-quarte- rs closed.

Q You could eee him, he was in front of you at that time?

A No, sir, he was between me and behind the door

q "With your eye on him then? A I could not hAve my eye
BBBsBsvBsV i

him K.v 1 ' bbbon no more. BBS) 'k. 'BBfl -
?

BBH ' i SBJ
B SBm' BBJ

Q He wao on the threshhold, wasntt he, right there of SmBtf ' vS '

the door? --A Yi sir.
BSj i.7i BSJ '

q And, Just as you closed the door? A I didnft olose it BmTl'
JbEJW'
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4 Thrss-tuarts- rs thsn7 A "Ys, sir.
1 Q. Just as ysu closed It thre quarters he was facing

i

you and you heard this sound outside? A Kot sir, I heard the
r

'soluid outside In the yard &M "Ni
q, Where you couldn't see him? A No, sir.
Q, That is true, lsntt it? A Yes, sir; I only heard the-soun- d.

Ef

fest'i?

Q, How lens did that take, how many monents did it take ,,

for that to take plaoe? A Veil, it might be an occurrence,

of less than 15 seconds because when I came out I pushed
M

the defendant back, and I caught hold of the door and about-- I

didnit estimate two moments, about swinging the door around

the drash came, it might have been between eight and 15 seconds
--1

Q, You heard no trouble between him and Piatt did you? t
1

A Ho, sir, I didntt hear anything.

0. You know this boy dont you? A Yes, sir..
BY THE COURT I

Q. Sid you hear Schmidt the defendant tell Piatt to oome
tft ssW m

out? A Ho, sir.
.' v. 0. Who was it he spoke to when he said come out?

A When he spoke, he spoke to somebody-accordi- ng to the infor-

mation they were put out of the plaoe for some reason, that is

Lang.

Q, Who was it used the expression sad said "Come out hers"?

a,
HMfHe
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A Ckarlit Sehwidt. ''1
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Q, The defendant here? A Ye, sir
i

'Wi
Q, New beingtried? A Yea, sir

. 6 WElTkdilBHaVH "

By-M- R; KIER!

Q, But Piatt was out Bide then? A Yes, sir
5f '. . 'XnOL H) .

Vt ifftWi BtftaM

- . . ... . . . . . . ' if yl 3HM1 ,

H wnen ne oaxj.ea out -- uome out", rxatt was outniaoY

A Yes, sir; Piatt was outside

Q You know this "boy for sometime, don t you?

A Yea, sir
ft TT I f!ft A 0 Wt 4 9 WAAW4 4 4tM h 4 M t mJ 4 i M . t
V 113 iUVO 5VI I UUU XC'UUCIbAWitt JiO 4.B UiHl IXUVl IDH'ki'i.'i WW

he? A Wellt I never had no dealings or anything but friend-

ly terms with him,

Q, He lives in your neighborhood? A Yee , sir, about

three blocks away

Q, You have known him for come years? A Yes, I know him
tf

about three or four years

Q, He hao been all right ao far ao you know? A Yes, sir
to my knowledge , yoo, air.

HE-DIR- ECT EXAMIHATION BY MR. BOSTVICK:

't1
Q Didnt you say that you didn.t see Piatt go out?

A Ho, sir, I didn.t aeo Piatt going out.

Q, Then when counsel asked you whether Piatt was

outside how did you know that Piatt was outside? A Because
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'
1

I Alto ft 1ht8 tn deer. As bosh as I case ut I seen the
defsaejant standing in the doorway X pushedhla laatk and

when the crash was delivered I seen that Piatt standing',

outside He received the crash Between the time I oane

out and pushed the defendant back there was nobody got out

of the door "because I stood right in the doorway
I

Q, So this hoy stoodmln8ide and Piatt was outside?
RiSi

L ' fi'

A Both outside

Q Both outside? A Yes, air jm j

ii

"9 J A C OB P, AIBHB C H T, b witness called on "behalf Vsf-iE- f

-- jr

of the people having "been duly sworn, testified as follows

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. BOSTWTCK:

Q Where do you live? A 283 Kast 152d street

Q How old are you? A 23.

Q, Who do you work for? A Kugene R. Kraus

Q, Where? A 203 152nd street.
0 That is where you live? A Yes, sir, that is where I

Bb

' LSBsi '

work.

Q. Bo you remember the night of November 13 and the aV BBB? ' BH '-

-

bbbW K bbbI
,BBbW ' k. "T BH if

HViJH; BH- -

morning of the 14th? A Yes, sir
' BBSBBJBBJ

q Where were you working that night? A I was working for

Mr. Zaoharsowsky, Protection Hall, 152nd atreot and Courtland
Mr Bl

BBBBBlPAisBhBH
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!.. q De you know lang? A Well Z knew him from "being in
"

1
"""5"

,

the neighborhood, yes, air. ,

...
JL '.. T

--3
.-

-
"WS-'Var-- s!

--v .vH ' f.,. 'i

q Has he any-niokname-
? A Heine.'.. .; -- MSsS?te5

w8S Ai $3; - JKS A
', 4fij? , v $$mm ' aatiJ"W? wassLSor . tss

Stf
q You know Heine? A Yes, sir. X fr r:

w
Ss

q Do you know the defendant Charles Schmidt? A Yes,' sir fix,

q Domyou know Henjy Piatt? A Yes, sir,
q Do you know Prank Byrne? A That must he Huekle

isntt it a hoy named Hucklev- - - sWgm -

q Huokle is prank Byrne? A Yes, sir.
q Did you see them in the saloon of protection Hall

on the night of November 13? A Yes, sir,
q That is the night they were having a dance upstairs?

a f
A Yes, air, there was a private-racke- t upstairs, I be-

lieve.

y? a

q A private racket upstairs? A Yes, sir.
q Do, you remember whether these people had a drink

among themselves, the four boys? A Yes, air.

q This was about what time of night? A When I seen

them it was Just 12 o'clock.

q What happened after they had a drink? A Well, I had

a drink with them. I went upataira to attend to my business.

I had a drink with Huokle. I went upstairs to attend to busi-

ness upstairs, and there was a young man came up and Baid his

rrfli.
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iMyhtw was I'LiP:.....
q Somebody said something --to you? A yea. sir, to m

q Somebody came upstairs and told you something? A Yesf

sir.
q And as a result of what they told you what did you do?

A I followed that man downstairs

q You went downstairs? A yosi sir, I followed him
,v

downstairs. He walked into the "back room of the saloon
the

and took Mr. Lang by shoulder and put him out in the street

and with that I was told to tell Mr. Schmidt to go out which
.4

&;&
fee I did,

MR. KIER: I object to that,

s' Q, This man came downstairs with you? A Yes, air
El.

q And you both when where? A I came down with him

and I went in the back room of the saloon.

q What did he do with Lang? A Put him out in the street
q Was this man connected with the place who put him

out? A No, sir, he was running the dance upstairs

q He was one of the people running the dance? A Yes, sir
q Do you know of your own knowledge why he put

4

Lang out? A No, sir.
C'"" slH

BY THE COURT:

q Did you hear him say anything to Lang at the time he

put him out? A Yes, sir.
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. .MR, KXERi Objected to. "'pv
. . '.,"THE COURT J That aff eots Lang only, not your

clients
wmmr -

THE WITNESS: He says "This aintt no place
KSBSr''-'"- .

for you you belong out In the street, ooming in here

and try to rob his nephew in the. toilet", that is the 'ilvf

reason he put him out

THE COURT: The Jury are instructed that
jByK

vmt. rnmftrlf must not affeot in ahv wav this de" I p

lttfendant who ie a co-defen- dant with Lang hut ie bo

ing tried separately; This does not affect Sohmidtf

q He didnt say anything about Schmidt? A Ho, sir.
Then this man vialked out and as he walked out, Heine had

been outside, had been put" out, and as he walked out Son-mi- dt

walked out and Heine came in the yard and as he did there

was a crash came, the door was open and Joseph Zacharzowsky

went to shut the door and told them to go home about their

business. The crash came, the door was opened in less

than a minute and Mr. Schmidt and Lang ran out of the yard,

Q What did the crash sound like? A Well, it sounded like

a dull orash, like a hit of istone or something,

q, Where was Piatt at this time? A Standing right

outside the door in the yard.

2u



Plait ha gene tuts ids? A Yes. sir
.

TEL r' WIS. baQ, Was wnybedy with Piatt at the time, do you' knew? o jmnm

A Why "not when he walked out alone;

Q At the time you heard the orash, did you see

anybody?

(Ho answer)
'Law

Q Tou didnH see Piatt at the time you heard the crash',

did you? .A At the tine 1 'heard the crash?

Q, The very instant you heard the crash? A No, sirj -- '"SB

we just shut the door. " 38S

Q, So you oouldn.t see outside? A Ho, sir
Q But immediately upon opening the door who did you

see? A I seen Mr. Schmidt and Heine run out of the yard
i

iT' and I Btumhled on Mr Piatt and picked him up.
r

Q, Stumbled on Piatt's "body? A yes, sir.
BY THE COURT:

Q Your name is Albrecht? A yea, sir,
BY im. BOSTWIGK:

Q, Did you aee Piatt go out of the door? A Yes, air.
q How long before you heard thie orash or this thud was

ti
it between the time that Piatt went out of the door and the

time you heard the thud? A I should Judge about four or

five minutes.

i?
-- ,.
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IIP 4 3TurTtur pr firsfirs minutes?minutes? AA Yes,Yes, sirair. Ws 'J.
SKM. i
ESS,

--,, Mot eight to 10 seconds that was when Zasharsowsky

was at the door closing it? A Tea, sir 'W13 hJf

'Jo?-- -
"

q, Pour or Tire minutes? A Yes, sirj when Mr. Piatt
walked out. mi

Q, When Ift Piatt walked out? A Yes, sir; Heine and

Schmidt had been out in the yard before that. HsY

Q Schmidt oamo hack? A Schmidt and jjeine oame back

both of them

Q, Schmidt in the meantime remained back and Heine was

out, is that right? A Thoy both came back in the yard to-

gether.--
1 Schmidt was in the front, of neine Heine in baok

of Schmidt, close together.

0. What do you mean, four or five minutes? A As Mr.

Piatt walked out
Mr, Piatt walked out

Q Mr. Piatt walked out-abo- ut four or five minutes

before he walked out and the crash.

Q Do you know where the man went who had tho trouble

with Lang? A He went upstairs about his business.

Q How many people were up there when he went up?

A When this man went upstairs?

Q When the man who had the trouble with Lang? A I

should judge about 75 in the racket,.
M'r BS

q He had no trouble with the boy Schmidt? A Ho, sir.
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HP "
Kor Piatt had no trouble with Sehaldt? A K, sir,

flLHHSESSHnot that X knew of -- r

.

. THE COURT: Is there any member of the jury - :$3m

that would like to ask the witness a question
v

3Y A JUROR: ...
!Jf,

HK- -F . Q, Was Schmidt put out in the street or in the yard?
P "t

n.

iC A Schmidt wasntt put out at all He was asked to walk out

Q Lang? A He was put out to the middle of the street.
f.JaBj- - v ;

Q, How do you get from the street into the yard? A

fcf You go through, you ooiae in on Courtland avenue, you go througli1

lVs
K( the yard, a hit of the yard about 30 feet I guess or 40 feetf

"

and about 16 feet wide or 10 feot.

BY THE COURT:

Q Is there an entrance on Courtland avenue? A Yes,

air, an entrance into the hall, you go through a little alley

and then go up through the hall.
q What do you enter on lD2nd street? A The side door

of the saloon

Q, On 152nd street? A Yes, sir Lwisassi
H

BY MR. KIKR:

q Bo you know the defendant for somotime? A Yos, B
K

9 H
1 '

'

sir
Q His character is all right, ismt it? A I don't

:
fc
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Mmt.v?
knew anything wrong about, hia. vAv$' 7 -

, V'

Br-- "
Y MR. B08TWICKJ I object to that.

Q You never have heard anything against hia? A Hot 'Sir S

mh. bostwigk: I move to Btrlke out that ;&

T .. ..

testimony
-- v ;

KT THE FIRST JDRORt
:$b

Q You said that you had a drink with the "boys together?

A Yes, 8irf Mr Huokle,

Q, What did you drink? A I drank a short beer.

q Didorou serve this? A No, sir, I didn t serve the
Irk tm

drinks.

Q, Who served thorn? A I oouldn,t toil you who served

the drinks , they had drinks already when X came in and Mr

Huokle asked me to have a drink with them whloh I did because

I know him being around the neighborhood and found him to

be a nloe fellow and I said I would take a pony of boor, .

4

Q, Wore they sober or intoxicated at the time?

A They were not exaotly sober.
- 'raBBBBftW

BY A JUROR: BBaliiB1

A-- Q Were you there at the time when you heard that remark,
B BM ' hBS

past, "Come on out." A Yes, eir, I was standing in the

doorway.

Q Toll us about that, and state to whom was it said?



ft. jv,
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V &

A Well "both of them, Sohraidt and Mr. Xasg. 1; ; o I

Q Who was it addressed to, who was it meant for,
the remark? A That is hard to tell 'because the man that

aji-A- a.

put him out was Upstairs, that man that put him out was upstairs

he aont them out, why I suppose it was meant for the man
i'f-T- f

Who put them out, "Send thorn out, we will clean them up,
--iSB

wo will trim them" those words came in.

BY MR. ICIER:

Q, You didn,t moan Piatt? A I dont loiow who he meantSlp
$9H '

he 'said. "Send him outw.

q Piatt was outside then? A Yes, sir, standing along--r
. s- - Mm

side the door in front of me. J

BY THE COURT:

i He was standing with you at the tlmo? A No, airv
j SI

there was a distance of ahout five or six feet away from

them he was standing up against the door and I was standing

here on the inside (Illustrating)

Q Wan he standing on the side of the door or was he

standing on the thresshold of the door? A No, sir, I should

say about two feet away from it.
Q In the yard? A Yes, sir.
q, And these men were how many feet "beyond him in the

yard? A Ahout five or six feet.
r Q You. saw that they were having that relative position
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when u hear Sehnidt and Xa that sir.
iff , .

Q, "Bend him out"? A Yes, air; just at that time

jay boss came out, my boBO for the night, I was helping hia
out and ho says "Don't toother with him, lot them alone,

- yBraf - 1
lot thorn go home", and as he wan closing the door about

fev three-quarte- rs the orach came, the door was opened as quiok

ao that and I seen Lang and Schmidt go out of the yard and

I picked this man up.

q Was thereanybody else in the yard at that time?

A No, sir
BT MR. KIER: ffemmBBBBm

Q Tho yard was pretty dar wasnH it? A it isntt soUf -- "'gawswr .

very dark, I oould see all over the yard - W

Q Any lights in the yard? A No, sir,
q or any" kind? A No, air.

Q, There were a lot of people around there that night,

in the place? A Upstairs and inside; there wasntt a douL

came out toeoauoe they were eating supper at the time.

HENRY PLATT, a witness for tho people, having been
VB 'HM' vHfl

duly sworn, testified uu follows,
i

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY JIR BOSTWICK:
BW1 ""' Bwj

Q Where do you live? A 328 Park avenue.

H4BaBS
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Q What is your business? A Printer ,f
i

Q I suppose you distinctly reaeaber the date of

November 13th and the morning of the 14th? A He? .isJsTHElIj -

Q, Do you remember the evening of November 13th and' that
f--HMIi-

MH !'. 4

morning of the 14th? A Well I was unoonsoious.$
W'

q, do you rememoer oorore you were unoonsoious im
: '

donft you? A Yea, sir f i1
a

V v a
' tv'J

- Q, That evening of the 13th where did you go first beforeWr s
lityour went: to Protection Hall? A 149thstreet and .Courtland

avenue.
m"

,fv?
P- -

Q, Who did you meet there? A Schmidt, Lang, Byrne

and myself four os us were there
Q, What did you do there? A We had a couple of drinks

Jsf in the saloon

( What did you drink? A Beer

Q Then did the four ofyou go out together or separately? bVbbsV
A" All four went out together

Q, Where did you go? A protection Hall

Q, Where is that? A 152nd street and Courtland avenueo
About what tine did you leave the saloon at 149th BBBBV V BBBM

B TBBB

street? A About 11 o clock

q, You went to Protection Hall? A Yes, sir BBBTBBflBM BBBfl

q, About what time did you get there? A Well, about bbhbfbbI
',

bbbbbmbb!



iffi&H

4.' is,-- m

Vwijp;
hAUr t IX tr quarter of 12.

1

Q Half past 11 or a quarter of 12? A yes, sir. --

Q What did you do when you got there? A Well we

wont inside the saloon .

Q Did you sit down or stand up? A 8it down' at the
' " ''' "

". .:'
.i ,f ttable. l'Hi-- v

Me
Q Have anything to drink there? A Yes, sir, we had a ri'

m&- - round of drinks.

Q Who was in the party? A 8ohmidt Lang, Byrne and myse
n
.'!- -

Q Did anybody else have a drink with you at that time? j

A Ho, sir.
: :'' . wz

Q Had you know Schmidt before this? A No, sit, this is

the first time I ever knew him.

Q The first time you ever knew him? A Yes, Bir.

q, Had you known Prank Byrne? A yes, sir.
Q, What do they call Prank Byrne? A Huokle, a nickname.

Q, Had you known Lang before, Harry Lang? A Yes, sir.
Q, What is his name, his nickname? A Heine.

Q Heine? A Yes, sir.
the Vsss1Q, How long after you got to Protection Hall saloon

did you have this drink? A I Just oouldntt tell you.

Q, You just oouldn,t tell me? A Ho, sir.
Q Well it isn't material but I want you to tell first

after you had the drink what happened next, what did you do,

H ''flr M , BB!

T1 r--



K life get up? A Veil, Huekle was the first one to get ; t& .L

'VIQ Where did Huekle go? A To the toilet.
Q, Ho went to the toilet? A Yea, sir.

h "

Q What happened while he was absent? A Well Lang

was put out i they told him to go out.

Q, Lang was put out? A Yes, air, told to go out.

Q, Did he go out? A Yob, sir.
2' Q That left you and Schmidt there? A Yes, sir.3

Q How then which one went out, you or Schmidt?

A Tell Sohmidt.

Q, Schmidt went out? A "Yob, sir.
Q That left you in there? A Yes, sir.
Q, You went out? A Yes, sir.
Q Did you go out before Huekle came hack from the toilet?

"'V
A yes, sir, I went out before that.

THE COURT: Is that the order in which they went

out. How you repeat that, what was theorder in which

these- - men went out including yourself , who went out

first?
THE WITHE8S: Lang.s

Q, Who went out after Lang? A Schmidt..

Q, Who went out after Sohmidt? A Myself.

BY MR. BOSTWICK:

Q, Did anybody else go out? A Ho, sir.

Jl
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1M
Q What happens tp you after you got outside the 4or?.

A Why Z was hit,
q You don it know what you were hit by? A No, air.
Q, Do you know anything after that? A Ho, sir; I was

unconscious,

Q At the time you went out of that door did you

have money in your pocket? A Yes, sir.
-- ;V.:

Q How much? A $7,
.-

-

Q, In what denomination? A A five dollar hill and
' i&WBm - - -

two singles, "' '"aBsr " '
'

vaw'' - ,-- " -- i

Q When did you first misB that money? A Why after
was hit I didnft know where the money was and after I was in

the hospital the money was gone.
F

Q, The money was gone? A Yes, sir.
BY THE COURT:

Q, Whore did you have it? A In my posket. -

Q, What pocket? A The right, hand pocket.

Q, Loose or in a pocket hook? A Loose.,

BY" MR. BOSTWICK:

Q Who was the last person you saw Just before you

were hit? A That is something I could not tell youj

I was unconscious on the ground when I was hit.
Q Just before you were hit who was the past person

you saw Just before you were struck or felt this blow?
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A Btfcalat.
, 7 . . .

Q, Schmidt was the last aariycm saw? A yer, sir. f
Q Now hqw many or what, length of tins of seoonds

or minutes , hours, days or weeks was It between the time

you last saw Schmidt and the moment when you felt the blow?

A Well it was only a couple of minutes

Q, What is that? A A couple of minutes.

Q, What does a oouple of minutes mean; what do you

mean by that? A About five minutes.

Q About five minutes? A Yes, air,
Q Where was Schmidt the last time you saw him before

you felt the blow? A Outside.-

Q I know but how far off from you? A Well, from here

to about the table, ( Indicating )

Q When was the last time he spoke to you before you

felt the blow? A In the saloon.

In the saloon? A yob sir.
Q What did he say to you in the saloon? A n said,

I guess I will go out".

Q, Schmidt said that? A Yes, sir.
q, What else did he say to you'4 if anything more?

A Nothing more.

q What made you go out? A Uy Intention was to go home,

Q, You went out to go home? A Yes, sir

', .
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Ike ye gat ut alt you stad at the doer or Air
yeu awTt towards your hose? A E stood there waiting Tor

awhile at the door.
,q Who did you see while you stood waiting? A Nobody.

M

q, Nobody at all ? A No, sir, nobody at all.
sZL

Q, Wasnft there anybody at all there while you stood

there waiting? A No. sir.
Q, Where was Schmidt and where was Lang? A I couldntt

tell you where Lang was.

.
Q, Well were was Schmidt If you -- know? A Schmidt

fe? must have been outaide,
"4 i

Q, What is that? A He must have been outside.

0. He must have been outside? A Yes, air.
THE COURT: That leaves it uncertain where he

'iwas.

MR. KIKR: It doesn t mean that he was outside.

- If he dontt know I would rather have him say so.

THE COURT: It means he does not know.

BY MR. BOSTWICK:

Q When did you regain consciousness? A After I was hit BBBBBBBkL
" Bs!

N three days, I was three days unconscious in the hospital.

Q Where were you hit? A Here in the head.

(indicating)

Q (lridilaatlnj)the left side of the head? A Iraotured

skull.

H f4sssW H



Ceula ytu hear before

A What is that? '
.

q Could you hsar before ths 13th of November very well 4

In both ears? A Could I hear?
mmr. q Yes, A Before I was hit, yes, sir.

Ki!'&!
w. q Can you hear Just as well now as you did before the

13th? A --No, air, I cannot.
, . ;

q In whioh ear? A The left ear.
-- 4

IS q The hearing of the loft ear has become impaired?

A. yes, air.
iq Ycu oan,t hear ao well in that ear? A Ho, air.

ItPv j?
" q How long were you in the hoapital? A Three weeks;

BY THK COURT:

-- -

!--" q Did you hear any word or sound Juat before you .were

struck? A No, air.
q Juat before the instant you were struck, the second

before you were struck? A No, air.
TUB COURT: He says he did not hear any word

or sound the moment before he was struck.

- CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. KIER:

q You never had any words with this young man Schmidt,

did you? A No, sir.
f q Were you good friends? A He was just the first

night I oyer met Schmidt

--- "fir
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Q About how longt an hour or two? A Well about that
yes, sir.

M
Q, Then when you came up to the saloon, up to Zacharaowsky

you were there about an hour-wit- h him, werentt you, before

this ooourrenoe? A Yes, air, about an hour.

Q You never had any words during that time? A No air,
m,,- -

Q You didnt show any money, did you? A Didn't show,

any money to nobody.

Q Nobody knew you had any money whatever? A I

donft know whether they did or not.

Q You didntt show any? A No, air.
BY THE COURT:

Q Let us get at thie. Did you take out the money

to pay for any drinks? A No, air.
' .

Q, Did you pay for any drinks that night? A Not in

Protection Hall.

q Well how about the other plaoes where you were, at
LbLvi r Hthe first place, the first saloon? A Me and Byrne ' -

BBBrBBBBBBBBf -

was together.

Q, You and Byrne were together? A yos, air.
q, Did you take out any money to pay for drinks up there?

(No answer. )

BB BB
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Q, Was it JHit change you took out of yeur peeket ' ' ' .S

or did you take but any "bill? 'A No, sir. I didntt take' ' '
:

'
' .S-- " ' "- JnBv i

out any bill.
. .j !";. jsaMr.' v

Q Did you expose that money at any time that evening?

t A Ko sir.BK- -

Q Did you take out any bills out of your pocket at
any tine? A No, sir.

Q Did you tell anybody you had any money in your

pocket? A Wo, sir.
Did you tell Byrne you had money in your pocket? . js

t,"z

A Ho sir, I didn,t tell anybody I had any. --J
BY THE COURT;

Q You told nobody? A Ho, air.
BY MR. KIER:

Q, You aay a little before the trouble --- how lonG before

the troublo did you know that you had some money, hae you

looked at your money a oouplo of hours before? A Well I v.- - PbbWJPbsbH,

know when I left my home I had the money.

Q Whon you left your home you know that you had that

muoh money in your pocket? A Yes, eir.
Q, What time was that that nicht? A Well I left my. home

&t seven o'clock. J '('- - :' VAfl V

V:
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- Then after that you didn't bother, it was in there t ID-- '

?A

you left it there 9 you didn't Mother about it? A Ho, sir;
X didn't bother, I knew it was safe

"

l You didn't look at it again? A Ho, a'r.
Ol

'- -

.
Q Then wfcen you were knooked, senseless you said you

- i:r
"were sonselbss for throe days? A Yes, air.

tei:
Q Of oourse while you were senseless you did not look

"fer
. for it? A Ho, sir.

IVs
fMM

Q, At the end of three days in the hospital that was the

first time you knew you had lost seven dollars? A The money

was gone

Q That was three days after the occurrence? A Yes,

sir.
Q Am I right? k Yes, sir.

Q That icjright? A Yes, sir. --1

Q Throe days after the occurrence for the first time

you looked and found the money was gono? A Yea, sir.
Q You were taken to the hospital, and you were in the

hands of the hospital people and they were treating you?

A Yes, sir.
Q Nurses and everybody? A Yes, sir.
Q, Everybody was treating you in the hospital, doctors

and nurses? A Yes, sir
Q it was three days after this occurrence you missed

) r JB M



t look at it or see it from seven o'clock

that night of the occurrence? A Yes, sir. 'i&i

tiiiiiiifMflMHB ' "

Q And the occurrence was about 12 o'clock?

.A Yes, air.
Q IB that it? A About 12 o clock.

' BY A JUROR: .

Q Did you sec anybody hit you? A Did I soe anybody

hit me, no, sir, I didn't see anybody hit me.

Q When you stepped out of the saloon to go home,
m

i',.t did you step onto the street or into the yard? A In the
f

yard.

Q In the yard? A Yes, sir.
3

Q, Was there a stoop there? A Ho, sir; no otoop there.
Q Right flat out in the yard? A Yes, air.

C Q Three glasses of beer you drank that night?

A Ye 8, sir; we only had two glasses.
Q, is that all you had? A Yes, sir.

Q During the whole evening? A Ho, sir; in Protection

Hall.
BY THU COURT:

Q The juror- - would like to know how much you drank the tilwhole evening? A About four glasses altogether.

Q Prom seven o'clock in the evening when you left home
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M- - '
uatil you had. this aooident? A Yes, sir.

Q Sour glasses? A Yest sir.
KJtSPV,

-- v

Q How long do you think you wore standing outside
the door way in the yard? A Well, about five minutes.

-

Q A juror would like to know whjr you were standing there?
fc-- r

!??
a?
:tf,

,

A Wellry my intention was to go home. - $51 "

Q Why didn't you do it, why did you stay there for five ' "

if ' '

minutes, did you have any idea in that? A Well, no, Bir
Q, Were you drunk? A No, sir.

-
l

-
Q Were you perfectly conscious of everything that was

5 v

going on? A Did I know everything going on inside?
Q Before you were struck? A Yec, sir.
Q, Did this drink you had taken affect you in anyway?

A No, sir.
A JUROR: I would like to have answer that

question "Why wore you standing there"?
BY MR. BOSTWICK:

Q After you went out of the door why were you standing

there rather than go home? A Well, I was making up my mind.

W
Q You were just thinking about it? A Yes, sir.

BY A JUROR:

Q Are you married? A Ho, sir.
Q, Did you hear that remark passed "Comeon out, I will lick

you"? A No, sir j I didn't hear that.
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BY MR. KIBR:

Q Nobody threatened to lick you? A No, sir.
r -- , symaEBmxk .

Q You didnH hear any remark passed at all?- - A Noj
(,i
&

2,6- - sir; didn't hear any remark passed.
Ifes--

si if p f p' i BY THE COURT:
'Hi
Ji
r&, Q, Now this man from the Hungarian Society up above

who told Lang andSchraidt to go out?
--v UR. BOSTBTCCK: Lang was put out and Sohmidt

SU-- Q

Ft was told to go out.

BY THE COURT:

Q The man from this society up above where the dance

was did you hear him say anything to Lang or Sohmidt?

A No, sir j I did not.

Q You did not hoar that? A No. sir.
Q Did you hoar either Lang or Schmidt go to the door

and jcta demand that somebody should oome out , they wanted to

lick them? A No, sir.
Q, You didnt hear that? A No, sir.W

S IHBY THE FOURTH JUROR:

Q Whon you stepped outside the door did you stand in

the doorway or up against the side of the building?

A Outside the door.
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ui Did you stand In the deorway up against the door--4,
"a:v.

Janb or stand in one side? A On one side of the door..
' '

Q Leaning up against the side of the house? A --Yes;t

sir ' ..'.".'(&

F'-- ' 'Q Was it xpxx in the open yard? A Open areaway ;

Q An areaway? A Yes, sir. ,
.

'

Q How far waB the other fence from there where you .

w:r '. were standing in the areaway? A (Ho answer).
i i-f.t- a!"

--w BY THE COURT:

Q ThiB areaway was how long, was it a :long areaway?

A Veil,. I couldn't tell you.f .

! t Q You couldn't tell us? A Ho, sir.
Q Had you over been there before? A Ho, sir f the

first time I was cverthere.
BY THE FOURTH JUROR:

Q, You know it was an areaway? A Yea, air.
Q Were there two ways to get out of there or only one?

A Only one entrance.

Q You could boo the exit, could you, from where you

were standing? A I oould see what?
W

Q The entrance, you oould see the entrance to this
WAV ' mm '

-- xH

place coming in to go out? A Yes, sir..

Q From where you were standing? A Yes, sir
THE COURT: This case will have to go over
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until to-morr- ow in a few ninutea, but I would like
to have a general idaaf what this are away or yard

, , i was I would like to know how wide it was and I
think probably the proprietor oould give us that

4

iy information and probably by to-morr- ow morning

he oould give us a little diagram, approximately.

That is all you want.

gfev BY THE FIFTH JUROR:

Q Do you remember where you wereWtanding at the time

vou were hit? A (Ho answer).
0"- - :Jm:vyP5 A

O IKrtro VAm vrni erf. nnrl irii ftnrl Vinw wato rnii . nriiH rtrr . iVi ,ft 1

v
time you were hit? A Standing by the door.

BY THE COURT:

Q Which door, were you facing the door or facing the
- i

building, wore you standing with your back towards the door? i

v

A Baok towards the door.

Q You were standing with your baok towards the door?

A Yes, sir.
Q What door was that, how manydooaswere there there? H

A Only one door.
T2 H B

Q That led out into the yard? A Yes-- , sir. H fto BH H Ha f

Q Then you tell tho jury you wore standing with your

baok towards the saloon whnn you were struck? A Towards tho

door.
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Jlf:

Q The door was towards the saloon, wasn't it? '

u- -

A well, towards the
M

M. Q The question is was your hack turned towards, a little 7Hs '

turned towards the saloon? .
A The entrance to the dance .

hall. o

w .-

-

.

Q The entrance to the danoe hall? A Yea, air. '

($','
Q All right. Was your "back turned towards the dance

hall at the time you were struck? A Yes, sir.
' Q Now, you were struck on the left side? A Yeoy sir.

', vJmmm "v

S&''
S-- i Q Weren't you? A Yeo,sir.

Q Very well. Mow, where wan that left aide of your head,,
BBfc

wntvb airooiun wao bnai m av wie time you were ObruojEY ' ?

0

A Well, I was atanding thiB way (illustrating). '

THE COURT: Without a diagram it ia pretty hard

for us to tell.
BY MR. BOSTWICK:

Q Were you facing the sidewalk when you were struck?

A Pacing the sidewalk.

THR COURT: There is a room, I assume, inthe

rear of the building or saloon, or whateYS--r it was. bm r

MR. BOSTWICK: There ia a sort of a glass WiB: l
.'V; sal'

enclosure, in other words, a Bort of a piazza

enclosed which leads out to tho yard
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i

, ., THE COURT :, I thought itfiwas a regular areaway; p.
This was on the ground floor?

MR. BOSTWtGK: Yes, sir, on the otreet level.' - i1 1 fit'
"

BY THB COURT: .
-

(fc Were you on the street level? A Yea, air.
BY A JUROR:

3j5S -

Q While standing there for five minutes to the best of,
mm

your recollection, before you were hit, you don't know of any- -,

':m, '.

body that approached you at all? A No, sir.
Q, You didn't see anybody? A No, sir; I was hit.; ? vl

K--i
E2" Q. Before you were hit you stood there for five minutes?,

r-- v
A Yes, sir.

i
' Q Thinking it over? A YeB.isir. 3

you
Q During that timeA didn't see anybody and no one spoke

to you?. A No, sir.
fe- -

Q You don't know that you saw anybody at all?
A Ho, sir.

.; tBStgggggjBBSl

BY THK COURT:

Cfc Did you see the object that struck you? A No sir;

I do not.

THB COURT: Now, suppose we suspend until
to-morr- ow and ask the proprietor of the saloon if he

will give us a rough diagram of this place and let
BjP2Bhim explain it to us, or anybody else who will do it



r ''(Tho Court admmonlshed the jury, calling their '4
attention to Section 415 of tho Code of Criminal

'J,

Prodadure and adjourned tho further trial of thefr--.
L ,

T5ff

case until to-morr- ow, January 13, 1910, at 10.30

4r o'clock)

;- -

. .

$fc

How York, January 13, 1910
i

H
f- -

TRIAL RESUMED.

TONY PREY, a. witness called on behalf of tho people,

"being duly sworn, testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. B08TWICK:

Q, Where do you live? A 983 Jackson Avenue.

0. How old are you? A 21.

& Q, Do you remember the night of November 13th, last?
Hi B

- H H
A Yes, sir.

Q, Do you know Charles Schmidt, the defendant?

A Yob, sir.
Q, Do you know Harry or Heinle Lang? A Yes, sir



Bid yeu see the after midnight on the 13th or t

jP merkiag of the 14th of Xoyenfeer? A Yes, sir II IP;

Q Where did you first dqo thom?H A 151st Street: corner
1 4

of Cortlandt Avomie.

Q, What time was that?, A It was between ,12 and one';

o'clock..ilf,

Q In what direction were thoy going? A Going west,
KP
1 corner of 151st Street,

Q How were thoy going? A In a lively manner. ,

Sjy CI Walking rapidly? A Walking rapidly.
C'W
ft-- n Q Slowly or fast? A Past.

fc
Q Going through 151st Street? A Yes, air.

,
v-J-!

Q, Do you know where Protection Hall is? A Yes, sir.
''J C1

Q Where is that? A 152nd Street and Cortlandt Avenue.
f
4

THE COURT: How you have that diagram and if 1

-- J

there is no objection the witnesses can testify

from it so that the Jurors may understand the

location. It is roughly drawn, not "by a technical

hand hut I think we can use it.
BY MR. BOSTWICK:

Q Now, you say you saw Schmidt and Lang on 151st Street?
Lkw 1 lHA Yes, sir,

"t Q Going westerly? A Yea, sir going westerly

Q Between what avenues was that? A Going between
il H j

Cortlandt and Morris Avenues.
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11
Q Thsy were coming from Oortlahdt Avenue? A ' YesWsir.s u', p.
Q

. Going towards Morris? A Yes, sir
Q Morrie Avenue is went of Cortlandt? A Yes, air;

AUGUST HCK1IAH, a witneoe called on behalf

of the people, "being duly sworn, testified as follows:

DIREOT EXAMINATION BY MR. BOSTWICK:

Q, Are you connected with the detective "bureau?

A Yes, sir; the Bronx "branch.

Do you remember the morning of November 14th?
j '- -

A I do, 'if:r
Q Where did you go that morning? A I went over to

corner of 152nd Street and Cortlandt to inveotigate a .robbery

of some man

Q Did you go to a plaoe known as Protection Hall?.

A Yes, sir.
Q. Did you examine the premises known as the yard

of that place or institution? A Yes, sir; I didu
Q I show you People's Exhibit 1 for identification

(referring to the diagram) and ask you whether the yard that
you speak of is on Cortlandt Avenue? A Yes, sir.

Sp 1 i 1 1
Hi, HI '

Q, Is there a singlo gate to that yard on Cortlandt
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A Yes, sir. 64 !o.
ft Ib there a wall separating the yard from the sidewalk

on Cortlandt Avenue? ., A' A sort of a high fence, .

.3 - V M

ft With stairs up? A No stairs there. - ,V,,i --.tf
a

'

ft Sure about that?- - A Yes, sir; I didn't see anyl-f- V

?A 4

stairs
!'

ft A high fenoe? A Yes, sir.
ft The yard is between 152nd Street on the one siden I

-- ".

and what street on the other? A 153rd Street. ..

ft On the othe? A Yes, sir.
. ft I point to a door on thodiugram which leads into an

ft-f--m

i--
1

areaway, and ask you if that is the only door which leads

in from the yard? A Yes,, sir; that is the only door from

the yard into the areaway.

ft There is another door leading into the garden?

A I didn't examine that door; I didn't see that.
Q What did you find, if anything, in this yard, and

where did you find it? A I found a rook lying there, an4ak
,1
V couple, of ash. cans stood one side, and some blood on the pave

mentfthere outside of the door, abcu t three feet away from

the door. te C H

ft About three feet away from the door? A Yes,, sir.,.

ft What did you do-wit- h the rock? A Well, I took

possession of it from Hr. Zacharowsky, he found it first and
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handed. it to e when I got there this is the rook. (Producing
'I to.

a stone).

Q Was there anything on the stone when you found it?m A Ho, sir; there was no blood on it. ThiB man had a oap on.
m.

MR. KIER: Objected to. I object to the stone
!

if

being put in evidence.
1 i

e?t" Q, Were there any other atones loose in close proximity,

to the door which I have Just indicated? A Ho, sir.
THE OO0RT: None that you saw? ' ,;

THE WITNESS: I looked all around for it
was a small yard

BY MR. BOSTWXCK:

Q You were there for the purpose of making an invest iga-tio- n?

A Yes, sir.
Q This was the. only loose stone you found? A The only

one there.
BY THE COURT:

Q That was the only loose stone you found in the yard?

A Yes,, sir; it is a blue stone yard and there were blue stone

flags .

Q Were there anbloodstains that you could flee anywhere
f

in the yard? A I thinfc there worcjblood-stai- ns on the flagging,

I examined them,jaak there were blood stains ion the flagging.

Q Wero those blood stains found anywhere near you'



.
w- -

w
6(S

.ws

dnft knew that fact? AiiEof j.'iiir 2aoharowBky :haad&lir
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the stone.

Q, Did you arrent tiie defend &nt In this case? A, Yea

tjBfe .viirj I aid

BYHR. BOSTWiCKJ
''.' 1 nil I MM '.

Q When? A It wao on the evening of December let, 1909

Q. Where did you take him? A I took him over to the
jsHv ,

detective bureau 3mW 'mm v
Q. Did you arrant the other defendant in this oaoe?

'.'! .

A Officer Wagner arrested the other defendant the evening .

mm --

.

K previous.
''i

CROSS HXAHIUATIOH BY MR. KEIR: . .....

Q Ur. Wioknan, you are oure , firstly what t ice did i

you get there, tihat tine at night? A Well, it was maybe five

minutes after one or ton after one when I was notified to go,

and I got thereprobably about a quarter or 20 minuteo after one

trhen I got there.
Q, Of course that yard ia pretty there, there are no

lights there? A Well, when you open that door, that door

that leado from the aroaimy out to the yard there io light ' H fl1stright there, underneath the coiling, and immediately you open

that door you can see everything over tho yard

Q That io a omall door, that io a doublt door, iont

fVt
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"itf ' A air there 1b a dinglo door right over tnVref : ,
lo- -

that is the only door loads to that yard

Q, You mean to toll me that the door leading from that
areaway out to the yard is a single door and not a double door?yr-- i

A yob air a single door

Q Hot a double door? A Yea, pir
Q Wow, I want to ask you something else Do you moan

to toll me that there is not on the front of this yard on

Cortlandt Avenue that there is not steps, wooden step8$

going up to the second floor. Do you mean to aay there is not?.t
A (Ho answer).

(J You have caid there aro no woddon steps going up ahove
--.1

on Cortlandt Avenue? A Hay "be en tha nido of the houoe hut

not ovor that fenoe.

Q I mean from here (indicating) right over the fonoo

and going up from here up the e nt irelength , up to the oocond

floor, do you mean to say there were no at ops? A That io'

for Ike Zaoharowaky to say, there is a high fence,
f bLLVbVbbbbabbbbbb

Q Wan there a pair of stairs leading ovor the fonce? bsbbm "b Bl 11

?' H

A (No answer). H

Q When you first too: the stand you said there ware no
t

stairs going up, do you know whether there aro any on the front

of that wall --- did you, yes or no? A I aaid there is no steps BBBbVLbBBBBKi BBBbV i

bbbbV BBSs BSBBb! ?

over that high fence.

BBBB' BBBBBBBW H
BSBflLl

-- 3l tmv



Q You persist in saying that there are no steps going lIMp"
up to the second port, are there steps in front on Cortlahdt

Avenue, in front of that yard? A The only steps I saw

rw was ut airalrmt0 the Vionno ,. not ovnr t.Vin Tmrtnn.. l'--t -

1 jcJw,
T

tf . Q, Hot over the fence? A Nof sir,
?

Q You don't remember eeeing anything of the kind?

A No, sirj there were no steps over the fence.
Q, Did you make any kind of a search there on that

MHB. . "
,.front part you mean to say you searched the whole yard

and didn't see those steps if they ore there? A There is :

: :

no steps there.
Q Now, then, the yard is a pretty long yard, it is 25

feet 10 lnohes here? A It was one o clock at night when I

went there.
Q It was nightthat you went thre? A Yeo, sir
Q You didn't have any light with you to search for any-

thing? A I hod a candle and searched all over the yard, even j.liml-- - ii i ii l. j-
-l mi a

in the garden I searched around.

Q You didn't tell ub about the candle before? A No

sir; you didn't ask it; I am telling you now. I had a box of

matches and I went in the garden and all over that place

Q And there io no oteps over that fence?

TUB COURT: He says he never saw them

Q Now, Mr. Officer, this wao November 13th last?



mm JO ,

felt io- -

A It was on the 14th, it was after 12 o'clock on the morhing

of the 14th..

Q You didn't arroot this boy until when? A On December
'tsM

lstv - "

0 About two weeks after? A Yes, sir.
.

Q During all this time thio boy stayed at hio place, sw

--

. didhtt leave hio home, where iB hio home? A On Court land

Avenue. i;.:

Q You know where hie home is? A Yes, sir.
m TM COURT: Now ask him if he knows whether --

.

tSr.

the boy stated at his home?

BY 1IR, KIBR:

0. How many times during the two weeks from this occurrence!it

November 14th, until you arrested him about December 1st f.ihpw

many times did you visit thiB boy's home and see him ,there?

A I saw him there twice in his home.

Q Didn't you go up seven or eight times? A No.,, sir
twice I was over there that is when I was there, throe times,

I saw his mother the first time I was there, he wasn't''

homo when I went there.
Q You saw him on two occasions? A Yes, sir; I saw

BSSy'SSl 1'his mother first. t BSSSSSSlBSM

Q On neither of these two occasions you arrested him? '
"

lss1 '

A No, sir j I did not. iBPsH'
' H .I mmSJ SSBBBBBB

'
SBBBvBBBB BBBMissVH
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Q, You talked ta him, didnt you, told thin boy that .

it wasn't him who did it , or Lang who did, hut you believed

the bartender did it? A I said I want to find out who done
not

Hfe it, I didn't know who done it, I waothere.
3- -1

Q Did you aay that the bartender did it? A lTot sir,
I didn't Bay any euoh thing. I wanted to find out if the bar-

tender did --it
Q Ao a-fao- t, do you know ho did it? A Ho, air.

THE COURT: He doee not pretend to know,

J.--- "

Q, He ouggeotcd the bartender?

THB COURT: It wouldnH make any differenceo.'

if he did. He wao not there. He didn't cone for
an hour afterwards.

v I

Q Didn't you oay pooitively to the mother that the bar-

tender did it? A No, !ir;, X did not.

BY MR. BOSTWICK:

iHBHBB
Q Thia io the some otone that Mr. Zacharowaky handed to

you? A Yoo, sir;" it hao been in my posoession

w JOSEPH ZACHAROWSKY, a witneos recalled1 en

behalf of the People:

BY MR. BOSTWICK:

Q Hr. Zacharowaky, did you make thio diagram of your

place and premieeo? A Yea, Hir.
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Q Vo wieh to thank you for it That there io 152nd n )0- -

$f Street Indicating the part narked aa 152nd Street on People's
it-- a

Exhibit Ho. 1 for identification. The garden io north, i3 it . ,

i
i

m. .

fr not? A Yob, sir. .
, Ur. .

Q 153rd Street would he here (indicating)? A Yeo, sir?-- Q

VV
v..

,

i ,

Indicating the yard or garden? A The whole spaoe K
1'.;. -... -.., . .takee 75 feet front from 152nd 8treet way, one-thi- rd of the ,

blook. m ? j

Q' Front 152nd Street to the north line of the garden is

about .75 feet? A Yeo, air.
Q Is the door loading from tho aroaway into the yard the

door concerning which you testified on your main examination?

A Yes, sir.
Q Is this the door (indicating)? A Yeo, air,

at that door, hut we don't open that door, that door is

stationary.
Q A double door? A It ia a double door.

Q This ia a skigle door? A Yes, sir; we- - only use

that one door, we only use one part of it.
Q To there a wall hr or a ft-nc-e (indicating)? A A fence

Q, Now, did you ever oee this stone before? A Yes, sir.
MR. BOBTWICK: I ask that it bo marked for

identification.
(The stone referred to is marked people's



ral jo

Exhibit No. 2 -- for identification K .

:'.';.. .

'
. .

.

.

'

"::.. ;
;

Q When did you find that stone? A On the morning of

."'the 14th we was anxious ---

Q Don't Bay that. Toll what you did? A It vaa handed 1

im!3iMsm.iWim.j r. ' -

S&i- - to mo by ono of my employoen who was helping me out that night j
v. .;

with the statement that he found it in the yard, ' 4'; i ,

M L

Q, What did you do with it? A I took it and put it in .. .
v.

,

.ny drawer. .. .',
--it .

'

Q What was the name of the employee that handed" it to

you? A Jacob Albrecht.

Q Jacob Albrecht? A YeB, air.
BY MR. KIER:

Q What time did he hand it to you in the morning?

A When I got up.

Q About seven or eight o'clock? A No, sir; . I generally

get up about 10 o'clock.
Q About 10 clock? A Yoa, air.

that
Q You were handed x, stone? A Yes, sir.
Q Wow, Mr. Zacharowsky, in this yard here there are

stops going up over that fence to the second floor?

A No, air, not over the fence. to K 1

Q, Along the fenco there is? A Right around here in

front (illustrating).
Q Where do they begin? A They begin here inside the
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b " doer or entrance and they lead to tho private apartments
?. i

t' Q, 0o up to the oeoond floor? A Yea, oir; not as

far as that
sv
v' . Half way? A About the diatanco of 10 foot from tho

3.'- -

!m Xhouse;'- -

Q Oo Up over tho fence to the house? A It reaoheo over

the fence. ,!&H. V '

BY THE COUBT:

&.
Q- - Io that yard approximately 26 feet 10 inches lpng

v

about? A I can romaraber 12 feet, you, eir, according to

mv aaaaurenanto about 12 feet wide, ahout 25 feet 10 Sss

i --dak4 inohee dee$

Q Approximately? . Yob, air.
Q That diagram haa drawn is approximately correct?

A Yes, oir.
BY UR. BOSTWICK:

Q, Will you indicate with this pencil on thin diagram,

marked Exhibit 1 for identification, by ths letter A, the door

which you rtouDtibod when you said that it waa throe-quarte- rs

ahut. Will you indicate on that diagram by a orooo the place

where Paatt wae found firot after the t injury hud been inflicted?

A (Witness indioatea).

Q Will you indicate by the letter B the atairo where

the people were auppoaed to oomo down or did oome dowjl from
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iff.i 4 'if to ;

tlitt layariae Aaseoiat ion danoa? A (Witness marks B). - . f I IP- -

c wHSfiHsil0, Will, you indicate by the letter C the gate that you.
- .

: j , testified Lang and Schmidt were running for when you saw out

of the door A? A (Witness marks with C),

Q Immediately after you heard the crash? A (Witness

indicates)
s

R''
--. t

Q, That was a double door not a single door?

THB COUKT: Yes, he said it was a double door

hut used as a single door.

tf-i- i

V

JACOB ALBRKCHI, a witneso for the People, " I

I

recalled:
BY UH. BOSTWICK:

Q Bid you 070 r boo thio atone before? A lTot until the

day I picked it up. IBBbsbhSB

Q I mean before now? A Yeo, sir,
t" Q, Tell us where you found thatstcne and when you found mbsI

bsbbbbV.s .bm

it? A Well, I found it the aame morning of tho aooident

about, I guess about a quarter of nino in the morning when I

came out, I found it I don't know how many feet it was lying
taBBBBVBsM l

in the corner Just opposite whore Piatt was hit, when I went

out that morning. I picked k that stone up in the oorner of

fc- -
BSBsL. " BBBsl
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llOi
Mr " the yard about five foot front where I picked Piatt up, .wherir lo- -

P. .' ; '
he was lying.

p '
Q-- In the cornor? A Yob, sir.
Q What did you do with it? A I took it inside, and'I ', Mi,

.

gave it to JToe and Joe put it in the drawer!'.

Q, That wan nine o'clock? A Yns, air.
a il;Ki- -' -

Q, I show you People1 o F&hibit 1 marked for identification ! t

M

? and ask you to iridic at o by a small circle the place whore you

found that stone. Thin is the door leading out of the hallway
s. al'

and this is the gate leading out to Courtland Avenue?

A Here is where Piatt, mis hit (marking).
S. -- .-

Q Indicate by a mark lik this, double cross, whore

Piatt was hit? A (Witness indicates).

Q, DTere there any otho--r looue stones in that vicinity?

A No, air, not that I ueun.
1

Q, Did you see any blood atains on the pavement?

A On the oavement, yes, sir, Hood stains on my other coat

where I picked hira up.

Q, This was found, the stono, nearest to the place where
"MHHHHJHHm, H

Piatt was hit?
MR. JCIBR: Objected to.

KR. BOaTffICK: He says there was no other stone

there .

Q, You found that atone about five feet from where you

say you found Piatt? A Yes, sir.
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H.,
Q You handed this tomlfr Joseph Zaoharowsky? A Yea. - m IP1'

..i I'TTT!' imJ'aa.tAt JiJWfem ..J.

slr
Pj--

BY THE COURT: 4V to .

Q. At nine o' cloak the next morninc? A Yea. air. .
.'

.-

-&&.

Q Did you have any conversation with either Lang or4.,
fa ,

Schmidt? A Ho, sir.
h

Q After this accident happened? A No, oirt I hadnt
seen them, only just in the station house , in the magistrate i9Bf

"SHEf 7"
J

.

tlar 1. - '

court, hut haven't spoken to them.

Q, STo oonvoroationVitli them at all? A Ho, sir".
it '

Q You were the first man to roach Piatt and give him
- --51

i

r assistance, were you? A Ys , air. ' v

Q You raised him up? A Yea, sir. A

4

i
--
,

Q Prom the ground? A Yob, air.
Q Who was the second man to come out? A Well, at V

alone
the time that I picked him up, I picked him upland lr. Huckle

he wanted to help me.

Q Huckle whose real name is Byrne? A Yes, sir- -

0. Byrne? A Yeo, sir. Ho wanted to help me and I told aVvfl
h ira no , he should go home and he d;id , he went away , he went

home and I picked hin up. bbTbB1
bbbV bbTbbV bbb r

Q Why didn't you want Huckle or Byrne to help you? BPaitwTTI' bbbB
TBTaraf

A wall, I didn't went a crowd around, I wanted to attend to hia
BBB HBBi 9 t

myself i gggaBBBl

HTr-;Bl-B
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Q Why didn't you want a crowd around, why did you want
. .to attend to him yourself? A Because, Z don't know, tho

.1

way I case out, I says, "Come on home, get out of here. ipSraSSissr a ' v '"'

Those were Just the words I used, not weaning anything "by.it. 'SHf ' r

BY THE SEVENTH JURORx

"aW U.

V'' Q How long was there between the time you heard the
) '"crash and the tine you picked Piatt up? A I should say it .--

;v.'

" "v '' 'WmL "

was a second.

BY TUB COURT:

fc.'. "
.t 4-- v Q, How, Just hof ore. you piokod him up A No more

ifl than the crash was

m - QC Just hefore you picked him up and immediately i 'S - iH

after you heard the crash did you oee anybody besides Piatt? '", "I .

A Yes, sir.
Ur. 1

Q Who did you see? A I seen Schmidt and Mr. Lang.

i Where were they, what were they doing? A They were

running for the door, going out the door to Court land Avenue.

Q Running out of the hull? A Out of the areaway where

Piatt was hit.
L.!

Q Were they in the name nrenway or the yard?

A This is th'j yard (illust rating).
Q, What we htve been calling the yard you call the areaway?

A Yee, eirj it io a yard.

Q They were running in which direction, towards Piatt or

T, .
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t v --r
k ,i

.. Just in a contrary direction? A Away from Piatt.
Q Did either of them say anything when they were running?

A They did not, ted

. Q Any sound at all? A Ho, oirj I didnt hear them?
.

-- 3

say anything.

Q How often had you oeen Schmidt before that night?

A I seen him once or twice. 'w--

Q Twice before that? A Yes, sir seen him at 12

o'clock and seen him at the time when this accident occurred
M- -

when the man was put out, and seen him out in the yard,
r

three times that night.
Mo Q When who was put out? A Mr. Lang.

A --, i You caw him when Lang was put out? A Yest sir.
tfr

Q How, who put Lang out? A I dont know that man1 8

name, he came from Jersey some place.

Q Who ordered Lang out?'? A One of the committee of the

dance upstairs. bbB ,?

L bBm j
Q Of this Hungarian dance? A A Gorman dance, I believe

it was.

Q, Bavarian? A Yes, sir. BBBBBtBBBBBBBBBBBBbI x

BBBBBBi BBBBBTBBBBB

BY THE 12TH JUROR: BBBkw BM BBBBbI

M"bbbB 'bb

Q When you found that this man was injured did you find, bbbbW'' B
BBihBBv 'flBB

any disarrangement of his clothing whore his monoy was supposed

to have been? A Ho, sir; I didn't look for unything like

that. 'bibbI
"bbWbTbbI
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i

Q Were hie pookets turned inside out? A No, sir;
I didn't take notioo to anything "but hie head, I laid him down

and didn't touch him until the ambulance oas. l '' ' i

BY A JUROR:

4- -
Q How is that yard illuminated? A There is no lights

at all.
Q You saw some people run? A Yen, sir. 41-- -

Q Sure youoould identify the people who ran?

A Yes, sir
tBYMR. B0STWIC1?:

Q When the door that ledfrom the areawayyinto the yard a9
:C

was open did any light come out of that door into the yard?

A Yes, sir; it shows for about half way in the yard when the

door is open.

BY THE COURT:

Q Any windows opening on the yard or from the ball

room, or from any other part of the building? A Well;

that is a good di&ance away. There is a window where the

hat cheok is, and there is another shed, it is covered

Q You are the bartender there? A Ho, sir. j :r? -- - B

Q Who is the bartonder? A A party named John .

Ueokle

Q Was he there that night? A Ho, sir, he wasn't

there that night.



Q, Vas he in the hotel? A Ko, sir.
Q, They had no bartender at all that nijjht?

.

-- v
f

, "1
f f t

ESfcr

A Mr. Eokert.
w.-- 'WiB&BSitj .

Q Was he in the areaway that night? A Wo, sir.
m'

Qi Hot at all? A ITo, sir.
Q, He didntt even go to see what happened?

9 ,.

t

W4
4 j? A No, sir, never left the barroom.

iV .BY MR. KIER:

.-
- Q ' Mr. Joe was there? A Yes, sir.

Bf
.-

-
Q And Huokle or Byrne was there? A Yes, sir.
Q When you picked him up? A Yes, sir.
i When you said only these two men were there you don't

r;
mean that, you mean these other people were there with you?

A Huckle only run into the yard, I only seen Schmidt and Lang

run out of the yard and Huokle was standing in front of me, .
. --1

the door was almost shut on Huokle.

Q How many people were upstairs that night?

A About 75 or 80.

Q Nothing prevented the people from going in and out

and around there? A At that time there was nobody going out
-

because I was standing in the hall at that time.

Q This place is connected with upstairs, people "were

coming ,downstairs from upstairs? A Yes, sir.
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Q How theBb aarka you aee here indicate those atepiig ',

frofc upBtairs? A Yea, air, ' .1 - '

$&
Q The crowd waa upatairs having a dance? A Yea, air i

MM

Q Thia ia the kitchen? A Yea, oirk

Q Leading upataira, do you bee that marked B? ,4
A yea, oir.

Q You aee What looks like stepa? A Yea'-,.- , air.
Q Thia io the areaway, is it, where the marks are like

stepa? A Thin io the partition of the ataira, on the inaido,v

you have to go through two doors to get to the ataira to go

upstairs.
Q At the end of the stairu ia the door leading

Into thia area? A Into the areaway and then from the alley

into the yard.

Q, These stairs going up at air a , and thia waa a door leading

right into thia areaway. You aee that areaway? A Into --

the yard

Q, Ho. A Into the arnaway.

Q, That io ahout 50 feet, you come to the door of the area-w- ay

leading into the yard? A Yeo, oir.
Q There were a number of people in thia dining room

i

i
i-

-

at that time? A Yea, air.
Q There waa no rmy of preventing aa many ao wanted to

paaaing out and into thio areaway into the yard and into tho



i i. '&
bvt" '&y-- V In.

sr and into the flitting room there, thpy are all connected

with doors, are they not? A Yes, air,
Q All open doors? A Yes, sir..
Q, And any one , two or three or four or a doaen people'

oould have paosod in and out during that night? A Thatr

night they did, hut not at that time, because I was otariding.
ir
'&

"T&

there
Q, They could pass through there at that tine?

A (Ho anower).

i
tJ

- Q About that time? A Yea, sir; they oould.
w5

Q What was your business that night? A I was just ,

'O. h&ping Joe out,

Q Were you in the dining room? A No, sir. -- a

V '
Q Where were you helping him, what 7rork were you doing?

I was
A .Upstairs in the hat checking and all around.

Q, You were of oaurse busy ongaged because 75 people

were there, you were very busy, is that right? A Ho, sir;
that didn't make me so busy.

i SBBHHHUBS

Q, You were busy all that time? A No, sirj not busy

all that time, I should Jfldge I done about two hours work out

of the four. -

Hte' H ''

Q Attending to checks, what else were your duties? E' sH '

A That was all, just standing cadc around, Just to see what

was needed.

ii iff , H
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1

Q Attending to the wants of those 75 people? slPl
fr'

-- 'A Ho, sir.
9 "

Q, To as many aa wanted to be attended to? A Yes. sir
BY THR COURT:

V J.

hsf"- -

Q In regard to the Bavarian who ordered Lang out of the

m place, how long after that was it that you heard this crash
A'

and went out, wont to Piatt's assistance? A About 10

minutes.

Q About 10 minutes after that? A Yes, sir.
Q And the Bavarian, what became of him? A He went .

upstairs and come back again, he went upstairs and I didn't -- " VI
"' issee him any more.

Q He went upstairs with the Bavarian society ?

A vos, Sir.
BY A JUROR: 1

1

Q After you hoard the crash were you the first one out

of the door into the yard? A Yes, sir,
Q Waa there any one else in the yard when you got out

there besides those two men running out? A Yos, sir; there

was Huckle, he was standing in front of me.

Q, He was outside also? A Yos, sir.
Q, He was in the yard at the time of thiB crash?

A Yes, sir. ,

BY THE COURT:
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Q When you got into the yard wag Buckle standing there?

A Yea, air Huokle, Byrne, stood thio Is the door, the

door io oloaod, and Byrne etood right there bo that the ;V;itlt

door could not close (illuotrating).
Q Ho waa atanding in tho door? A Yea, air he

ieV .,?"; wac hQlf out; ho was talking to mo, he had his face tono,
I.

face to faoo, about from whore I nm oitting now to about there

he stood (indicating)..
I? ' $5

Q Byrno had his back to the yard? A To tho street,
Q, Byrne was not out of your sight at the timo of the H K 3

craoh? A (Ho answer).

BY MR. BOSTWIGK:

Q Wow, at the tine that this blow was heard was Byrne

in your view or wan ho not in your view? A He wan in my
f.

view.

BYTHBCOm: .

Q How, how far were you stnndinf from Byrne at the

time you heard tho crash? A I should say about half a foot.

Q You stated, I think did you state that you
4

were standinf face to face with Byrne? A Yes, sir.
Q Talking to him? A Yes, sir.
Q How, were you facing the yard at that time or waa

Byrne facing the yard? A I was talking, I was faoing to the

yard, '1 was faoing to the yard.
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Q, Thore was no One el Be in the yard was there any IpSiSSSSHl

one else in the yard other than Sohmidt and Lang?

A Only Ur. Piatt.
BY UR. KIER: .

Q You didn't make a special examination at thei time
K
ZF of the yard, you were not looking for anybody in the yard?

A Ho, sir; they came to me and asked me to send him out

Q How, Mr, Albreoht, at the time of this occurrence
,

whon you hoard tho crash, and when you went out to the man

you were not interested in looking in that good sized yard to
MW see if there was anybody else around there, you were interested.

1

in the man, to take care of him, were you not?

MR. BOSTWICE: I object to that.
" "

THE COURT: Strike it out.

UR. K3BR: I will ask it in this way.

Q When you went to pick Piatt up after the crash did 1 2aeBaSBBSSS9

you look around the yard to aee if anybody wus there , or did

you look at Piatt, the man you were picking up? A Ho, sir;
BBbVjBi

I didn't know he was hit; I didn't know Piatt was hit; didn't

know anybody was hit. When I heard the crash the door was KTi BBi BH

fired open, and I saw they made a ruoh for the street,
BBBv imbbV

Schmidt and Lang went out , and as they did I stumbled over

Piatt's foot. I picked him up first, attended to him first,
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it
I went out after thon to see if I oould see either one of them,

fifcd out what they done, I haven't seen them since until the.
magistrate's court.

K
s .' -- .

Q Wasn't this boy pretty oiok at the time?

A Yes, sir.
Q Schmidt? A Yes, sir,
Q Had been remitting inside and you had helped him out,

didn't you? A ITo, sir; I tapped hira on the shoulder and

he walked out

Q Didn't you help him out a little hit, didn't you tell
me you helped him out? A Caught him by the arm and took

him ovor to the door, he walked out himself.

Q You did havo to put your hand on him? A I didn't

have to.
Q You did it? A Yea, sir helped him out and asked

him to go out.

Q Thio man you put your hand on was sick there you say? IMMMM1KBB

A Yes, sir.
Q, He was vomit ting there? A veo, sir; that was 10

minutes aftorwards when he ran.wp

MR. BOSmSTICK: I now offer thio diagram in

evidence.

Itn. KIER: Objected to because it wasn't

made by the proper person.
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THE COURT: The proprietor says that he measured

the plaoo hut he does not pretend that it is me.de

with the exactitude of a surveyor's measurements r

or an architect's' diagram. This is not a motion 'X-QBDnU- L

EK;
.,-- -,

involving real estate. It is simply to give the Jury lf III'
- a general idea of the position of things there

and I think it quite proper to have it marked in...&'
L-S-

&

evidence??
(Received in evidence and marked People's

Exhibit 1).

MR. KIBR: I take an exception to your Honor's
3

ruling".

MR. BOSTWICK: How I offer in evidence the

exhibit now marked Ho. 2 for identification, the

stone.

MR. KIER: I object to that. The stone was

found in the yard at nine o'clock, a very long time

after this accident happened.

THE COURT: Your objection is that it is too

remote??

MR. KIBR: Ho connection whatever Bhown between

that atone and the defendants.

THE COURT: I oholl admit. The faot that it
waen't found until nine oolook the following
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a eraing and that the alleged assault was coawitted

vf earlier In the morning can he used hy you as an

argument.
'K (Marked People's Exhibit 2) 1 ''" wMSBP

.

MR. KTKR T tnVfl an Tnntinn. '
-- Wv ' ,C" OK

-- -
t

i w"W "M w mm w

BY THE PIPTH JURORj

Q Did you look - fcr the atone right after you picked

w up Piatt? A Ho, sir.
r4w.

Q When did you look for the atone? A I didn't look

fcif for the stone, I didn't know what I was going to find. The
V- -

next morning when I came up I said WI wonder what it was".
Hm9S

ifT InnVnH nnH tH rVri tin .Vin. ftnnA ...W vnn...., .Vi , nnl v .Vi4nep 1v4rifir-- www-. -- . --..w. --j. w.. w, --...J - .., --- .0 - ':o '7 t

in the yard.

BY MR. KIER:

Q "Did you ever have any hard words with Schmidt or Lang?
P- -

A No, eir.
Q Before that night? A No, sir.

MR. BOSTWICK: The People root.

MR. KIER: I have u motion.
BBSi-jZiS-

M

THE COURT: So far aa the first count in the

indictment is concerned I ahall have to take that
C"5 sB'

away from the o onaideration of the Jury. The first
count of the indictment ohargea robbery and I shall
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have (to take that away -- from the consideration of tho

m jury because there is no evidence to oonneot ,

this defendant with any robbery. It is true that ' " .J?

does
the loss 6f money hao been proven but there, not seem

x to have been any exolusivo. opportunity on the part '

of the defendant for the perpetration of that otime

Uot;f in regard to the second count of the
i$j

indictment! grand larceny in the sooond degree ' - ' -

for the same reaoon that will have to be withdrawn
v

from the consideration of the Jury.

The third count in the indiotment upon the ,

t same state of facts, assault in the second degree,

will remain

The fourth count of the indictment is with-

drawn from the consideration of the jury, in other

words, this case must now be tried upon the theory

of assault. The theory of robbery must be withdrawn

from the consideration of the jury.

The third count in the indictment alone stands.

Is that your motion?

Ml. KIER: I have a further motion, your Honor.

As I understand, your Honor, robbery in the first
mmmmmiJmmm '

degree and grand larceny in the first degree and

receiving have all been withdrawn from the oonsidera--
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. tlen of the jury - -- 5fr
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. THB COURTj Yob.
f

KEl, KIRR: And your Honor has decided -
THB COURT: To let the case go to the Jury

'' r .
rii

on tho question of assault In the second degree
r- -

MR. KXER: now, as to that, your Honor, I
object, and ask that your Honor dismiss that oount of

IF,
j"4

assault in the second degree for the reason that the

People have failed to show by evidenoe that the

defendant has committed that offense or any other

offense against the laws of the State of New York.

I night further oay that the testimony is so

indefinite it in not precise, it points to nobody

particularly, and it is a matter of guesswork and
as

speculation, andAa matter of law the burden being

upon the People to prove their case, and the presumption"

of Innooonce remaining with the defendant until the

People have proven their case, I hold that the People

have not definitely shown any guilt whatever as to
W this dofondant in relation to this oharge or any

other charge.
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THS COURT: Now,, bo far as the assault ! con-

cerned
yj-- '

if I recall the evidonoe It is, in substance,
to thia offoot: That "both the proprietor,, Joseph,, .

-- f

'
--S

whose name I cannot pronounce, the proprietor and
i,m

Albreoht and also Byrne the three of them -- -- heard fv
iWiS
mm a crash, heard tho impact of a "blow. Praotically

the three of them went out almost simultaneously into

the yard where they heard the crash of a "blow and the

throe of them, as I understand it, saw Flatt lying

there, one of them tripped over his foot, Albreoht

tripped oyer his foot and then saw this defendant, to-

gether with another defendant Lang, who has demanded
V

a separate trial, fleeing from the yard. In other-word- s

there is the element of an assault "by someone

and tho flight of the two defendants and nobody else

in the yard, the yard only "being 25 feet long and

about 12 feet wide, so quick wore they in; perceiving

what happened that the defendants did not oven have an

opportunity of traversing the 25 feet of territory

before they were observed How then we have the as-

sault and flight within a space of a few seconds

MR. KIER: I will answer that. As far as the law

is oonoerned, of course, I don't admit that there was

flight. The witnesses say that the door was half open
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, . . . . . f l- -
and they could see- - hair the vara Tne front sate was . t

i
nnftTi- - ipibv coulrt not tVi nt.Vibt ball? of th vnrd. I

Suppose It la as your Honor Bays and that the witness

is right, though we dontt admit it, that they were

going out IK

THE COURT: I do not say that they were right

I have not the power to say that any witness is right
4 - i

MR. KXBR: But suppose the testimony is that they
1

were going out, that is a circumstance in relation to

the proving of an offense. That io a mere oiroumstanoe

and it might he said that it is a oircumotanoe against ,

the defendant, hut it is not a oiroumstanoe to prove

that the defendant did the striking, secondly it is :$
1

no proof at all that they had anything to do with the 4

striking. They might have oeen the trouble and run

away from the trouble. An Innocent man might run:

away from trouble. whore a man sees trouble in a

saloon ho might want to get away from it. Lots of

people run away from trouble. When a man sees trouble

he dooan,t want to get mixed up in it in any way
BBBBBBriSBBBBBBBBBBBBBa

BBsH BBBBBBBBBBbI

THE COURT: plight is some evidence of guilt if
the Jury decide to view it in that light.

MR. ICIER: With other facts, but alone, your

Honor,, alono it is nothing, Ac a matter of law alone

' LbbbbbMbbb'Qbbbbs'
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Mp, -.-- "- .it Is set evidenoe of anything - IQ'

K THE COURT: But there la something else la this j

IMS'''." AMA

jpl-- .
.-

-

. t MR. KIER: No mctiv or anything else. Piatt .fl .

aaid there wore no words between them

bhbF
bhb!1ov TUB COURT: Motive Is never neoeaaary to prove

4.; '.

a crime A ban may do a thing Just aa that man did
ST ,i

that I have Juat sentenced, out a man with a raaor
4

ESP ' ' without any motive at all Just go right up to a man

f ' and out hiss without any motive. He had no motive for
':

A 5

Em ' it whatever Not dona that lessen the orimo in any ,1

Q respect? -- 1
I

I

MR. KIKR: No, air, I dont mean that.
THE COURT: But motive is very strong i some J

t
I

(

times it has very great probative force, if you can

prove motive Now aasumo in this case that these peo-

ple had no motive for striding Piatt, had no motive

in it, hut that they did have a motive for striking

somebody else, namely the Bavarian who had ordered 1

'bbb'baaaMHal
thoy

them out andsupposed that this man Piatt was the

Bavarian.

MR. KIKR: According to the testimony the Bavar

ian was upstairs.
THE COURT: nuppose that they didnU know Piatt,

'aaaW4
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.suppose they didn't know him, and suppose Dm jury

choose to believe that thoy thought this aaa Piatt was
"X

the Bavarian,, what difference does it make?

MR. KIER: Ab a natter of law you cannot very ;ss

we j.a Bpooiuaxe on xnese maxxe.rs- - Tne District At a.r.

torney is compelled to produce definite evidence.

THE COURT: They may or may not have thought that

Piatt was the Bavarian; that does not make any differ
ence. If a man shoots A,, thinking A io B, he is guilty

of just the same crime as if he struck B. Both are .&
if

? u

human "beings and "both are protected by the law

o MR. KIER: There ie no evidence to show who

struck him,

THE COURT: The jury were not there and I was

not there.

ur. kier: He might have been struck from outsider

he might have dropped on his head.

THE COURT: we will let the Jury decide that.

UR. KIER': Your Honor denies the motion?

THE COURT: Motion denied
&

UR. KIER: I tako an except lorn a. H H

BBf HiPm
JBfl ps

BBBUfl
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defendant, hoing duly sworn, testified as follows:

DIRECT SXAlOHATIOir BY MR. KHR:

Q Where do you- - live? A 631 Cortlandt Avenue. (' v

Q You are retired? A Yes, sir.
Q How long have you known this defendant, thiB hoy

Schmidt? A Well,, for the last eight years.

Q Eight years? A Yes, sir.
Q Do you know other people that know him? A Yes, sir.
Q How long have you lived in the same house with thiB hoy?

A Sour or five year a.

Q Over five years? A Yes, air.
q You say you know other people who know his. in the neigh-

borhood? A Yes, sir;
Q, what is his reputation for peaoo, quiet and good order,,

good or had? A He is a good honest man, he works all the time

Q Is he a peaceable hoy? A Yes, sir.
BY THE COURT!

Q, Do you know anything ahout his reputation for peace

and quiet after he has heon drinking? A He always was nice

and quiet; he never drinks.

Q He never drinks? A No, sir,
THE COURT r Isn't the evidence 1b this case that
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i he had Veen drinking so muofe. that he was vomitting?

MR KXXR: He had been drinking that night

BY THE COTJHT:ek .. 4T--'
Q, Did you ever see him drink? A He, sir,, never soon hi.- r j

q Bid you ever see hlai come home drunk? A Ncr,, sir Sp'i' '

BY MR, KIER:

Q BO you live In the oamo house with him? A Yes, sir
BY THE COURT:

!'Q You donJt go uround with him,, you donH know whether he :--
HH,

drinks or not? A lia sir. never .'

-- - py w

r vS
Q You don,t know whether he drlnko or not? A Ho air --

Qo How. the evidence In this case, up to date, la that he9

on this particular night, went from one barroom to another drink

ing How,, do you know anything about that? A Nor, sir; X never. J

see him there.

Q Boeo his reputation in the community, as far as you know

it. coincide with that? A I never seen him go into a saloon:;

he is working all the tine

BY MR. KXKR:

w Q Did you ever hear anybody in the neighborhood t in the

community there, Bay a word against this boyn character? A Ha

sir smkBSBH'
MR. B03TWICK: I object to that
MR KIER: I can prove that his reputatiox has

HUSBSlv'H
-- w T r ' ' 1! -
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hstse- - fceen questieaed for pease and quiet, I asked

kite what is this defendant's reputatie. for peas

and quiet That is a plain quo Bt Ion. ,
;

. 4fci
'-iar-

st

J v MR. B03TWICK: I object to --that.
THE COURT: so far as you know.

BY MR. KTKR; ay

W- - q Was it over questioned? A All the time he was- - aniee
good young nan ' ' --

.

ry ur. "RORTwrrrr; .Aw

h? q What is your 'business? A X am rotirod now,fr busI

ness
f5

q You have retired? a Yes, air
i,

q About what time in the morning are- - you about? A Well, '?, --&
r- -

wai

how do you mean?

Q when do you get up Mr. Mitchell., do you. sleep late? .

A No, sir X get up at seven o'olook in tho morning

Q When do you go to hod at night? A X go. to bed at ten

a'olook and the house is olosed

BY THE COURT:

q How about tho defendant Schmidt when does he go to "bed,

if you know? A I hear hlnr going up to "bed at nine oolock

sometimes half past nine the latest
j.--y

q You hear him going upstairs at nine to half past, nine

at night? A Yes, sir
It , r- -

..&---
.1 i? i
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jykr bostwick: IP'
fikf.'jj bS5bbB'q Vow hare you ever been out with, this hoy Charles Schmidt? t

A Ha air never ...
O, You have nor knowledge of what ho rloAn wYial Vin 1st ftifh'-'&SrJO- T'.,n

fUM.
MT " I

, , . , . . yfismd: KUH s
1ffi

j. - J J. a a m knave yawrr a wxx. jl uaua n.x guuig aruuna as a nice young . --;-
--
.vi.4

MFPt man, that Is all what X seen, seen hlm many times . sirBr'. JB1'
(22 --""

. juj. j . ..t .. 4.n trrl i .. .i j. a a - H3r .Ip ffilUU UUOP J1U HU1& ttdf A WOAJL JiU WUX'JKB HS a U .UI0BH lXX ,, jygai o

r think, 'HE 'JmBPHSST f53m.
q YThere does he work?. A 0. cortlandt Avenue . t , Mil '

q what Id that? A cortlandt Avenue,
ffip & Si

q Ho works at Cortlandt Avenue? A Yea, sir

pi i Q what?. A AD tinsmith and roofer.

q Cortlandt Avenue and what street? A 151st and 152nd '

Street; he was working there over two years.

Q Between 151st and 153nd street on Cortlandt Avenue?.

A Yes, sir.
Q AG a tinsmith? A Yes, sir.
Q por whoa? A Ur Mason.

q Ur. Uason? A Yes, sir
BY THE COURT:

W
q spoil it if you will,, Mason, tf-a-s-- o-n? A Yes, sir;,

it sounds like that.
q Mason? a Yes, sir

BY MR. BOSTWICK:

q X want to ask you with whom have you had conversations
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V b to
aVet this larlss gofemidt? A I alaft got any cenvarsatiensT lo.-

I

aseut hlli.

Q X oantt hear you, air, a little louder'. The last
juror wants to hear you too Who have you spoken to, Mr. Kit
--lt -- j A- - It.. i A.. . .i. j-.- --i a. .. V eSSHM .
uuaxxyj i r Keiru tu uo uuBuTOCfbax- - i txio aBxanaant,, uugumbb Ifnlm-- f

11 T

Schmidt? a Nohody.
Si-- '

Q Hobodyfc A Nofc air. Mr.
m

q, How do, you know what-- his reputation is? A Well, I seen
--i. f . I

v'
him every day, what he is doing, I only saw that he is an honest - 3

nioe young Ban '

Mv- -
Kl

Trj MMfM AM. m& Mi mJk .
- - m - mm M V4 mmammZ4U 1UU1 UUJUUUil UJ. J1JUH CUiU. VUUl JUUKffiailb CUB bU U1D UUCU CfcU- -T -- !

Tf - p

ter is "based upon the fact that you have seen him ahout and he
7--

hasn'.t "boon doing anything wrong in your presence? A He never

does anything wrong so much as I know

q, Did you know that he had been in had company at all?
1

A X never seen that
q You go to "bed early, dont you? A sometimes 10 or 11 Ipamj,

Q You dont know what he is doing at 12 or one oclook in :HmmmS
smmmmmj k

the morning, do you? A X ain't seen him coming home at that

time msmsmw --- ml

w
Q Xf you knew that he had been visiting saloons at night msmsmmsmsmsmsmsmH s

and was in company with had people would you still say that youi
msmsmwtsmW B

thought he. had a good character and reputation im the oomnmnl-t- y? smmmmmsmmmmjmmmmw
msmKosmHi ?

'msmT H sH mH
heard he went in a saleom mm ' T r mssmt 3

A X never seen him coming home or
. .mrs' r mH

EmmS
-- t ,Hy

msmmL .smsmw
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TV'.'
.f.-'iata- i r !N, 4 IT yu fewwl out that he had feeen visiting saleras at IP-- -

12 or one o1 clock lit the morning 1b had company would you still
W: say that he had a good reputation la the community? A Ho sir,,

if X seen that would not say that. jji

Q If I understand you you have not learned from, anybody
. .

what his reputation is? A Ho sir. i a

Q But it is a Judgment based on your own observation: is

that correot? A X don't know.
WW.'.

q You oome to the conclusion that he has a good rcputa-- -

(

tion he cause of your own knowledge of him? A H got a good

11reputation H

q But not from .any other source? a No sir
gPW

MR. BOSTWICK: I move that the testimony of

the witness he stricken from: the record "J

m THE COURT: Strictly speaking youi are correct,

hut r will let it stand for what it is worth.

JOHN P. RASCH,, a witness called on "behalf of the

defendant, "being duly sworn, testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAHIHATION. BY UR. ICIER :

Q Mr. Rasoh, where do you live? A 524 cortlandt Avsnue.
-- - u
q ICr. Rason your husiness is saloon keeper? A Yes, sir.

'mz P ' H
Q Have you known this hoy for a long while? A I have

known Charles Schmidt for the last three and one-h- alf years
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JT iMflf'If. ft. kg laytup aeighVerheed? A es sir ei,,rigfct
v
at)reii tke vay tTMef 531.

Q Do you know other people that know hlai la the neighVer--

heod? A Yae, sirf quite seae around the neighborhood
' that

..' ' .' .

know him.
. .-'-

,!

it"
Q A great many people? A Yen, sir.

m
BP Q Id hie reputation for peace and quiet In the neighbor- -

hood good or "bad? A It is good

MR. BOST'A'ICK: Nc cr. o 3 eeacami nation. '
. V

W .

6' :

J AGOB G H R I S T 0 V H E H . a witness called oa "behalfli;f
'--

UW'f

v , of the dofendant, "being duly sworn, toot if led as follows:
... . if.'.

, . .? DIRBCT EXAMEIATIOH: BY UR. KIER:

Q Where do you live? A 574 Cortiandt Avenue.

iQ Do you know the dofendant? A Yes; air.
Q Charles flohaidt? A Yes, sir.
Q What is your "business? A Butcher.

Q How long have you known Schmidt? A About 13 years or

14.

Q 13 years? A 12 to 13. IKeMHV'fl'.

J q Do you know other people that know him? A Yes, sir.
q Is his reputation for poaoe and quiet good or had?

A It is as auoh as I know,, it is very good; to my knowledge

it was always very good.

NlflU B0STWIC2C: Ho questions.
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(IIARI.1B BOHIJ)J , thfl defendant, being duly

sworn in his own behalf, testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION, BY MR. XIKR:

-- v j
Q Where do you live? A 531 Cortlandt Avenue

Q How old are you? a Nineteen. J1"

Q You were horn where 7 A U. S

q I mean you wore horn irf- - A Long Island
Hi

Q Where le that? A Long Island
s - Q How long have you where do you live now? A 531

T v

Cortlandt Avenue

Q That is how far from this saloon,. Protection Hall?

A Well,, ah out three hlooka

Q How long have you lived there? A Well,, ahout - I am

living now there ahout seven years I

Q About seven years? A Yes, air.
q Where did you live before that, in the same neighbor-hoo- d?

A Yes, sir, right around the neighborhood

Q How many years have you beon living right in the neigh-

borhood where you are now? a About nine years

Q Where did you live before that? A On Third Avenue.

q So you have been living in New York how many years?
mJ bJH 1

A About 18 years

q You came over from. Long Island when you wore a child?

A Yes, sir

mji i Vl
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q Ysu eay.yow have 'been living nine, years in this neighssr
' "

,

Ir hoed where this ooourred? A Yes, air.
Q Kow9 at the time of this trouble, at the time of your

3 jCX. M '

arrest for .who were you working? A Ward & oow.

q What- - kind of work did you do? a Bill posting. far i

0 How long did you work for them? A About five month.
q How much did you sake a week? A Ten and a half dollars "'

q That was at the time of your arrest? A Yes, sir.
q How thont; prior to that for whom did you work? A John,

f. Mason. i
4. t,3

Q How long did you work for him? a About three years

w Q You have got a reoommondation in your pocket?. A Yes, 'Jj,

sir.
Q Three years? A Yes, sir.

t

Q What did you do for hist? A Tinsmith.

Q were you a regular tinsmith? A Yes.

Q How much did you make with him? A $12.
'V smm 1"

Q $12? A Yes, sir. aSssssv l

Q, Whore have you always lived? A Well,, in the Bronx.,
BBBBBBS' .Lsl

J Q With whom, with'your mother? A Yes, oir with, my - j SH

mother and father.
BBBSSfet B BBBBsl l

Q You live there yet? A Yes, sir.
kBSSsV 'SSSSSh

Q were you ever convicted of a crime? A Hever.

q Now, on this 13th day of November you left the house
BSMBSSrB H

HidsHp H
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at alitict what time? a Aout half past seven.
.

Q Asout half past seven? A Yes , sir.
q Where did you go? A Well, stood at the corner of 149th

Street and Cortlandt Avenue, ;and Iwnet .a friend of mine named 4

Lang and he invited mo over to have a drink I went over and

we had a drink there & y.

Q Whore, at what place? A Burkharts Hotel, 149th Street t

and Cortlandt Avenue
1

Q, What happened there? A We had a drink and we met Piatt
and Byrne'

Q You met Byr ne and Piatt? A Yes, sir, X asked them to

have a drink,., which they did

Q How long did you stay there? A Well, we Just had one

drink and they invited us over to Prooteotion Hall., 152nd Street.

Q who invited you,, Byrne and Piatt? A Byrne and Piatt
We had a few drinks up there when Lang was ordered out of the

plaoe lBSBMsl
Q When you went to Protection Hall,, that is whore the

troublo occurred? A Yeo, sir.
Q You had a few drinks up there? A Yes, sir
q All together? A Myself, Lang, Byrne, Huokle and Piatt.
Q Then after having a few drinks what happened? A Lang

was told to go out

. q By whom? A I oannosay.
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4 Wall what happened? A I me tela to walk eut, wklek

ImmemI did ,.

Q By whoa? A By Alhreoht. he told me to walk eut of!
- ,,iShJp'

the plaoe. ' fw- -

i -

',-- Wl '. .- -

Q Did he assist you out? .4 Ho, sir.
Ik

ff
n

I Q Put hla hand 0x1 you? a He jusi raised ao up eth - so- -

the ahair.
q Had you "been sick there? A Yes, air, X was oiolc.

Q Then what happened? A Well, I met Lang outside on

the corner and he says M0omo onF we will o home11 , which we.
B"

did and I left hin at 149th Street and Cortl&ndt Avenue
.

He wont to take the subway to the west aide where ho lived andf -- -

r went direct home.

Q, Where did you moot Lang, out where? A 149th Street
y THE court:

Q You net Long outside? A Yes, sir.
Q Om the street? a Yes, sir.
Q Or in the yard? A Outside on the ntroat

Q That is on lD2nd Street? A Yes, air, and Oortlandt
1 rBB

Avenue BHBBBBBTBBBBBfl
q, Hot in the yard? A Ho, air.
Q Did you go through the yard? A Yes, air, we had Jo go C' "" 11

1

BBBaBBBMJ 'BBBBthrough the yard to go out.

BY MR. KIXR:
BFiwH

Q 00 ahead. woren't you there when there was trouble. bbbW bHbbbB '

BH ' bIbHbV l
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wfce there was a fight er trcublo f awe kind? A Yell, while ' 1 io
feMeaeaeBM

X waa walking out there waa a fight with soae Pollabks la the
, -

m. corner la thla alley way
--

' tHMQ la the yard7 A Yen, air. --i "T i WmtyiiSM'
Q You saw bomo fight? A Yog, sir "Ml

y
Q Vha was engaged In It? a I canlt Bay it looked to "be

some Pollack f&r
fJ9f

xf v
t

o wasn't xnere a groax many poopie around tnerov A xes s

sir -- '

Q How many did you see about? a I aeon about ten

q Bid you see any crowd incideV A There was orowdB coming,

downstairs
ir

Q All during the evening? A Yea, air.
. -

q How long were you there? A I was there about an hour

and a half
Q During that time were theru many pooplo coming in ooa

ing downstairs? A Yen, sir
Q "Going out through the yard? A Yes, air.
q Were there many people around there? A Yes, sir, a

great number.

Q Were all the doors op9n the different doors and gatea? m mbbbbI

W 1 H

A Yea, sir
q Were there pooplo from upstairs passing through and

around there? A Well, they dldnt have to pass through there
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to go lmto the street,, double doors, they walked down awl --

through the "barroom

Q Waa there a gate-t- o this yard - was that always ope

K'tfi i .,:
there?- - A "Yea, air '.- -

nziIf'Jm&,
.5?-dA- .

v,'mm.
?-im.-

m i
!Sv ;3

q And anybody could go In and out off tho street? A Yeay
;l

air. '

.

q How, in this cafe. This io supposed to ho tho oafe

(referring to tho diagram) Thoro was a door leading from

that oafe into the aroaway? A Yes, sir,
q During the time that you were there was tho oafe crowd-

ed with people? A The cafe wao closed.

O q where were tho people ,. most of the orowd that you op oak

of? A Right in hero (Indicating) .

q Around thoro? a Yob, air.
q was that in the areaway? a That is leading to the

entrance fromi the yard.

q Did you see many passing to and fro? A Yes, sir.
q prom tho yard and from upstairs? A Ho, sir, they were

all coming down from upstairs.
lK2Sal

q In what direction did they pass? A They had to oome

down this way (indicating).

q How hero io tho yard, here io the dining room where

a great many wont. A Thoy had to oomo right through here and

in there ( indicting )

) taaalaial
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Q Hew after the persona oame downstair 0 te their seal, to C I0"

the dining room, did they go through how would they have

to - would thoy hare to go out through the yard? A Yes, air
q Beoause all this was closed (Indicating)? A Yes, sir,
q Then all these people that were in the. dining room --

that is the only way that they could get out? A Yes, Blr

q How, did you have any words with anybody at all that

night? Did you have any trouble with anybody? A Hot sir.
q Ho fight or quarrel with anybody? A Ho r air
q Did you have any trouble with Piatt? A Ho, sir. l

q You were always friendly with him? A Yes, sir
q Did you strike him. at al!7 A Ho, air.J
q Did you have any reason for striking him? A Ho, sir 1

j
4

q Did you see anybody strike him? A Hor sir.
q Do you know who struck him? A Ho, sir.

BY THE COURT:

q Were you present in the yard when he was struck? A Ho,

sir.
BY MR. KIER:

q I understand you had no argument with anybody at all?

A Ho, sir.
q You didn't have any trouble with any Bavarian? A Hoy

air.
q You were not arrested until two weeks after this occur-

rence? A Yes, sir.
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' si.q Hew near t that ooourrenee were you Hying durlag

these two weeks? A Three 'blocks

Q, How many times did the officer oome to your house? OTBTC.iMBf!'- -

A About seven or oight times.

Q During the two weeks? A Yes, air. . Imp -- , .

i.
!"-- -

Q Did he sea you frequently? A Yes, sir,, he seen me

"frequently.
j IB ".

Q Spoke with you?. A Yes, sir.
?i

Q, never attempted to arrest you? A No,, sirr nerr
made an attempt to arrest mo.

-- J Q After you left the saloon that night did you see any

fighting or trouble? A I wont right down home. sBr

Q Did you see fighting in the yard? A Yes, sir. a

BY THE COURT:
m

Q la there a fenoe around thie yard?

B H
if

Bf' 1

BSB
bTibb1

MBlHifcBBB f

BBBBaBBBE'4bbbbY H
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rp !'?i .'f .A Yea, lir. 5;
t&? Q, Did you pass through the yard in order to get but?

A Yes sir
Q When you were asked toy Altoreaoht to leave the plae

you walked through the yard? A Yes, sir; walked through

the yard.

Q Then through the gate? A There is no gate there , '.

your Honor.

Q, What did you do, walk on the step? A Ho, sir,
there is a door.

Q A door in the fence? A Yes, 8ir.
Q A door in the fence? A Yes, sir.
q Was it closed when you got there? A It was open.

Q Wide open, left that way? A Yes, sir.
Q How when you went through there, did you close the

door? A Ho, sir.
Q, Left it open? A Ys, ai-r- .

q Who was in the yard as you and Langpassed through?

A Lang went out toefore me and there was a fight with some

Polaoks.

Q, Who was in the yard as you passed through? A Well

there was a fight with some Polaok in this yard.

q About how many? A About 10.

Q, There was 10 in the yard at the time youipassed
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tkrtugh? A YHt sir.
'!(

Q, They wore having a fight you say? A Yes, sirjt they

were having a fight. -

ffiEjfeg&r

q, How as you passed through did y(ju see Piatt anywhere?'

A No sir.
Q, Did you see Burns anywhere? A Ho, sir, I didn't see

Burns.

Q Piatt was in the place when you left? A Yes, sir.
Q, Burns, I think testified and Albreoht oertainly
he saw

did that you almost instantaneously as he heard a orash
"O

of some object striking Piatt, that he saw you and Lang

running through the yard away from where Piatt was How

do you testify that that is not true? A Yes, sir.
Q That you were not running? A No, sir, I was not

running.

And that you wero not there at any time when you

knew that Piatt was there? A No, sir.
Q They testified that at that time they sawyou running

sH'BHBV H

w through the yard away from the direction in whioh Piatt
had fallen and that there was nobody in the yard except your-

self

sss. h i v

BPf fllB HHh
and Lang. Now, do you testify that that is not true?

A No, sir, that is not true.

Q You say that there were about 10 Polkoks in the yard
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fighting among thes elves? A Yes! sir.
fcV

Q WHatworo they fighting with? A I oouldntt say.

q, How do you know that It wan Polaoks? A Well, the voic

i sounded like as thoijgh they were talking in a foreign language.

Q, Do you know the Bavarian language whan you hear it?
A W 11, yoo, air. if '

Q Do you Bpeak Grnan? A Yea, air. --J, ' . .

Q, Did you speak German with these people that were up -- if-;"-

p-- ''
in the Bavarian society?

(No answer).

Q Did you hear them speak German? A Nofc sir
Q What wore they opoaking, the Bavarians? A The Polish

i
language.

!
t

!

Q, They wore speaking Polish, were they? A Yes, sir.
Q, Doos iang speak German? A Yes, sir.
q, How this Bavarian spoke what language in ordering out

Lang he ordered him out? A Ke Just grabbed hold of him

and Bays "Get out of the place".

Q, He used English then, did he? A Yes, sir,

w Q, Was Lang drunk? A Well he had about three beers,

ho knew what he vaa doing though.

0, How about yourself? A I had abo.t the same but I

don't know what X was doing.

TH2 COURT: We will suspend here.
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..-'- ' Tha Geurt thw ftdHoniBhe the jury in iL"

Kpf . accordance with Section 415 of the Code of CriAinal r!)

Ev .. Procedure and takes a recess until 2 o'oloek,. J; .ffigl

lfe CHARLESCHARLES BB GG HH 1414 -- I-- I DD T,T, thethe defendant,defendant, resumesresumes thethe Jf$0w':U' -

etand.

BgL CR0S8CR0S8 EXAlilNATIOHEXAlilNATION BYBY WR.WR. B08TWICKJB08TWICKJ g ."'.'
h& . ' y$M '

Q, What time did you say you left your home on the jiMUsJjSii p

P nightnight ofof NovemberNovember 13th?13th? AA 7,307.30 p.m.p.m. -

i '.is

q Where did you go then? A Stood at the 149th street 1
rS . ?,

B& corner and Courtland avenue.

Q, You stood there from half past seven up until what
4

time? A Till about half past nine.

Q, Half past nine? A Yeo, sir.
Q Anybody with you? A No, sir.
q, What did you do at half past nine? A Lang happened

to oome along and asked me to have a drink.
9

Q, it wa0 about half past nine that Lang canie along?
BeerBeeeeeBi i

A Yes, sir. BIT lfc- - bbbJ

BWhJPJBJ H"
o. You had known Lang before? A Well, yes, air,

BHHMHHm, vHM

Q, A long time? A Yes, sir. BeT bs w HBI l

q How long a timo? A About 10 years..
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(I Jriendly, with Lang? A Well, yes.;

. Q, What you call chummy with him? A Ho, sir.
PL

T Q, Did he live in the neighborhood? A Ho, air.
' i "J ' "

. 'J '

Q Did he come there to meet you that night? ;. .Sir' -

A - Ho , sir
Q Just happened there by accident? A Yes, oir.

3bBw5 '
Q You didn,t boo lane often, did you? A Ho, air,

" VW ' ''not very often
" si

Q How often 'do you auppoae you did oeo him? A Twice '(- - ''Sal

a
a week

Q, Did you know what Lang did for a living?

A Ho, Bir.
UJfV J--

.
3 ' V-- v

q Did you ever visit at hio home? A Ho, air,
Q Know any of bis people? A Ho, sir.
Q Had you aeon him substantially twice a week for l

any period of time? A Ho, air.
Q, How long? A About four weeks

Q Buy you had aeen him off and on for 10 years?

A ycb, air.

O q, Did you know anything about Lang? A Ho, air.
Q Did you know whether he had 8erved any terms in the

llB 'felBB llB

Workhouse? A Ho, air.
UR. JCIER: I object to that.

THK COURT: What i your objection.
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MR. XIKR: Irrelsrant, whether Iahg served I to- -

a term In the Workhouse.'. or not
fTHE COURT: You put on some witnesses

to testify that this mans oharaoter wan the finest
in the world. The Jury would like to know whether

a roan's whose oharaoter is said to he the finest in

the world associates with men who have been con-

victed.

MR. KIER: The reason I object is I don't

object to he captious hut I ohject because oven .

if Lang was i'n the Workhouse how can it affect

this man or his case. That is the reason I object.

THE COURT: The jury may think that a man

MR. KIHR: I will withdraw the objection.

B3f MR. B03TWICK:

Q, Did you know that he had been arrested for burglary

in Mount Vernon? A No, sir.
Q, in 1907? A No, sir.
Q, Did you know that he had been convicted An January

ijy 8, 1909? A No, sir.
BflBBSSjBSi

Q Did you know that he had served six months in the BvfB 1SV

EmPenitentiary? A No, sir.
1SBBBBBHBBBBBH' 'BBSS
BBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBbV r

Q Did you know that he went by the name of Charles

Prey? A No, sir.
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010 eted to. Objeetien overrule. Xxttien.
Q Yethe was a friend of youre? A Yes, sir.

BY THE COURT:

Q You have known him for 10 years? A Yes, eir.
BY MR. BOSTWICK:

Q, Then at 9.30 o'clock you went into the ealoon with
mri your friend Lang? A Yes , air.

Q How soon thereafter did Byrne or- - Piatt or "both
i t

appear? A About three-quarte- rs of an hour.

Q Then who appeared ? A Byrne and Piatt.
Q Were they together? A Yes, sir.
Q, What wao done after the four of you got together?

A Lang invited them to have a drink.

q Did all four take a drink? A Yes, sir.
Q I understood you correctly then that it wao upon the

invitation of Piatt and Byrne that you went to Protection Hall?

A Yes, sir,
lBHJBlHB(

Q That was three blocks away? A Yes, sir.
Q, About what time did you start for Protection Hall?

A I should judge about half past 11.

Q, You got to protection Hall within about fhe period of

time it takes to walk three blocks? A yes, sir,
Q All four of you got in Protection Hall ? A Yes,, sir.,
Q, Now will you indicate by the letter . Z the way you
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entered tha premises known as Protection Hall. This is S99it
Coirtland avenue and this is 152nd street (referring to the

life-- diagram)? A Yes, sir.......... .. . '. ijaar. "

u, M'niM in vnar in nftBmnniv Krrinwn n r.nrt .,....vnrrt v a yamw.p, -
-- MiHEMP41 " j-- vjap, t

El Q And so marked on the diagram, and this place where it
says "five feet" is what is known as the area The "bar is
where it is indicated by the word bar. The door to the street
on Courtland leading into the yard is marked BC. You entered

by the door marked C" which you have added the mark "Z" on
E"v

People's Exhibit 1 in evidence? A Yes, sir,
Q Did you then walk through the yard? A Yes, sir.

1- -,

Q, And did you enter by the door "A"? A Yes, sir.
Q, Where did you go after you had passed through the door 1

i
t

"A"? A We went into the he haB got a back room there in

back of the barroom (indicating where the back room is)

Q, You go through that door (indicating)? A Yes, sir,
iBBSBBBBB

right here (indicating) ,

Q Went through the door marked "J" may I mark it
J? A Yes, sir.

M
Q, Then where did you go? A Went and sat down.'

Q, In this room? A Yes, sir,
Q, Marked back room? A Yes, sir.

MR BOSTWICKt I do this with oonsont of counsel
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Q, Did yeu have any drinka thera? A Yes, sir. :v! t&l,

,3 T

q Did all of you have a drink? A Yea, sir, '

Q Did Albreoht drink with you? A Yob, air.
Q, Did Huckle leave you while y6u wore drinking?

A Yea, sir. " MM

-- .i
"W

Q Do you know where ho went? A He said he was going

to the toilet,

tot?
Q, Did Lang go to the toilet a. any time? A I didn,t

see him go away
r M

i&u. 'a
Q Were you present when eomehody put Lang out?

A Yea, sir.
O Q, Who was present at that time? A Huckle, Byrne and

I i Albreoht and Piatt and there was quite a few others

there.

BY THE COURT;

Q, Huokle and Byrne is the same man? A Yes, sir
q, You called Byrne Huckle? A Well, yes, sir.

BY MR. BOSTWICK:

Q, What did this man. nay to Lang? A He says to
he says,

Lang "Get out of the piaoe";"get out".

Q, Did he put him out? A Yes, Bir

Q, Did he use force in putting him out? A Yes, sir. aBakBaaau aaBar
' bbbHbbbI

(fc How when he put him out, out of which door did he aaWI
put him? A I only seen him leaving, throwing him out of the
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jsaok 'barroom door

q You saw him put him through tho door "J"? A Yeijfw I
Ki w

sir.
S, q On pooplo'a Exhibit 1, Hw aoon after Lang was,

put out did ATbreoht say anything to you about going out?
,i "

,fTa A About threec minutes,

Q, tfhat did Albrooht aay to you? A Ho' Days "Well,-yo- u " si y

might as well got out too".

q Did you get up and go out? A Yea, air,
q Then you 7ent out through that doqrBJ" alao?

A Yea, sir."

0. Then did you pass through door "A"? A ys, air, I
1

q Into the yard? A Yea, air, into the yard and 4

tnrough door "Z".

q When you got to the yard waa Lang in the ard?

A Ho, air.
q Wau anybody in the yard? A No, 8ir only tne few

Polaoko that had an argument tnere.

q Only a few Polaoka? A ea, air.
q You had no difficulty in aoeingthem then, did you?

A I aeen them there, yea, air.
q ifou had no difficulty in seeing them there?

A What do you mean?

q They wore plain in view? A Jfes, air,, they were

--i
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in view.

Erf . "
Q You could see very readily that they were there ?

BBIK' A Yes sir .t'A
vJ4S

Q You oould see over the whole yard? A Yes sir;
-

q How, not finding Lang in the yard where did you

go then? A I walked down through the door NZ on to the
m;

t- -

I'.street Court land avenue. ' '

W

i
Q, Then did you go north or south? A South, X .-

-

Q You went south? A Yea, sir.
Q, Where did you find Lang? A Standing on the oorner

of 152nd street and Court land avenue. .'fi
q How far did you go before you oame "back? A I didntt

come baok.

q Didntt you go baok to the saloon? A No, sir.
Q Didmt you sajt at the door "You come out there you

son of a something"? A No, sir.
Q Or any vords to that effect? A No, sir

BBsV.''' .BBsV '

by THE COURT:

Q Didyou ask anybody to come out after you loft the
'

LKesssTI
BBBBBsV.4 BB

saloon? A Not your Honor.

Q Did you hear anybody demand that somebody else should BBBBBBk

BBBBm

tBBfe

K BBBBBl

BBM

'

BBBBBB BBBBBI BBBBBB

come out? A No, sir.
BY MR. B08TWICK:

Q You never made any threat or any call to anybody to
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mm outside? A Hor sir.

fi-a- ,
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,

''

Q Did you have a tussel at tho door with the saloon ' ;3
! V'

i. . .m
RT .;j keeper Mr Zaoharzowsfcy? A No, air.

Q Did you see Lang have any disturbance with

Mr. Zaoahzowsky at the door? A No, sir.
Q, After you got to 152nd street and Courtland avenue

where did you go? A Right straight down Courtland avenue, rap - it- aJv -

Q How many blocks down did you go? A Three blocks, r ji-jj-M '
'

'

Erfr.
!&-''- . Q Three blocks down? A Yes, sir.

3fr-- ' J Right down Courtland avenue three blocks? A yss, Br
right down Courtland avenue threo blocks. -

Q Id your memory quite certain about that? A Yes,sir.
Q, Then you didnt go through 151st street? A Ho, sir
Q Did you ever see this stone before? (Referring to

People's Exhibit Wo. 2) A No, sir, never.

Q Did you nee the door open after Piatt had been struck?
i

A No, sir; I wasnit there.
q Did you run through that yard at any time?

A No, sir.
Q, Did Lang run through that yard at any time with you?

A No, sir.
Q, Do you remember when IAng was arrested? A Yob, sir.r

Q, Were you in his oompany at that, time? A Well, no

sir.



WWPWT-- i Ml t.lBWWr)MWAJWIL)lklt)WLHIlinl J.IHMHi,.Uil,llWUWiHIWH,M!lial.rfgTl

N&jtlS kiVf
. ,

i

kkkt -- .l. wfb r j w- - t i y a - - .ir. "' .'atfi n - iiw.jtHEtte'.4&KWPHiIW. 3.X v 2UftSrVH'. HT ri"T', " J. -- . ' j .MCW" --if Trt'Ji 'm Cs "J.
. m-

q What Is that? A No, air.PI';
l You were not In hie. company? A Ho, sir

Q Did you not state to the offioer the day before he

was arrested that you didnt know where he could he found?

A The day "before he was arrested? I didnt see the off i--oer

JR. . .the day

MR, KIER: I object to that. The officer Si, V ' '

hasn t given such testimony as that.
It "Co

THE COURT: The day before Lang was arrested,
BO

BRT THE WITNESS. No, air, I have not sees the

officer,
v

HP

MR, KIER: The officer has not testified
1

to anything of that kind,

BY MR. BOSTWICK:

What time was it when you left for the last time

Protection Hall? A About a quarter after one,

(I When was the first time that you learned that Henry

Piatt had been struck? A The night, Sunday night , the 15th

of November.

W Q Who told you? A Detective Wiokman.

Q You did not knovm he had been struok before that?

A No, sir,
Q, Do you remember what the altercation was or the row

between Lang and the man who put him out? A No, ir.
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4 Did yeu knew why Lang hi toeing put out? ,. IP'

;r1v
A Ne, air. .

Ft a&i r" n
Q, But you saw him put out? A I seen him put out( w

fe

yea, air.
Q, Was there anything said to you why- - you should

go out? A Why X should go out? No, sir.
sat

?v BY THE COURT:r.,
--a-

A -. ' . . .

Q, Haeynt you some idea why you and Lang were requested
EESft

to go out? A Ho, sir.

mt' Q Bid you know at the time why you were requested to go

out of the saloon? A No, air.
MR. KIER: The testimony is that the other i

1young man, ATbrecht, took hold of him and walked

him out, didn't tell him to go out, ATbrecht

didnit say to him, "You must get out0.

THE COURT: I thought the witness said

immediately after Lang was put out ATbrecht turned

to this man and said, "You got out too".

MR. KIER: But ho was not ordered out; he had

been in no disturbance.

THE COURT: It conveyed to my mind the impression

that there was a direct oonneotion between the put isC ' "jB

ting out one and k requesting the other to go out

I asked him what his view was in regard to that.

.v
t -
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why was it that Lang wan put out and he was requested)
.

to go otit."? T
: --,'
m &1

MR. KTER! ATbreoht said h had bnn HinV Andtap-- 4&&W

-- e
was sitting thsre vomiting, Albreoht said he

had been sitting there sick and he Just took hold
'

H of him and said, "Oct out" while he was sitting ti
FfKSJ

there vomiting.Ifr I-- -

c r
A" BY THE COURT:

Q, Did you hear the conversation "between this Bavarian

and Lang? A tfo, sir.
Q But. you hoard the Bavarian tell Lang to get out?

..
.

! A Yes, air. '

Q What reply did Lang make? A He didmt make any

reply. --1
Q What did he do, just get out? A The Polaok had

caught hold of him and threw him right out of the door.

Q, Who threw him out of the door? A The Polaok

q The Polaok throw him out of the door? A Yes, sir.
Q, Did he-fall-

? A I dontt know, I only seen hi

go out "one door.

MR. BOSTWICK: I don it think I have this in evi-

dence and if I have it wont hurt to repeat it
BY MR. BOSTWICK:

How long after Lang was put out through door J"
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--Sfr . idid yeu leave the plats? A About 10 minates. wk-ij- f myjss
rf-'- v

u
THE COURT: Z thought you said three minutes.

-

'k f,P v
My ear might not have caught it right.

BY THE COURT:

Q Didn't you say throe minutes before there was

something occurred in throe minutes? A Yea, sir.
"" ;2.,tS

Q, Three minutes? A Yob, sir.ft,

'&
Q, Was it threo minutes or 10 minutes? A Three minutes

.V, Q, It was three minutes ? A Yes, sir.

RE-DIR- ECT EXAMINATION BY MR. KIER:
- '- - SbM

:Q Q Did you have any words or any trouble with anybody

in protection Hall that night? A No, sir.
Q Or any other plaoe in the world? A No, sir.
0 YJhen you met these people, Piatt Byrne, they knew

ri

Lang as well as you did? A Yes, sir.
Q And Joe knows Lang, everybody around there knows

BBSS! .FaBBBSBW AH
Lang, is that true? A Yes, sir.

(i You are not the only one who knows Lang? A No, sir. BBBBBBbTv' n ,r tH

Q Other people in the party were acquainted with him?

A Yeo , sir. EST
THE COURT: Dont you testify. This is the

BBBBBBBIBBi '

man to testify. You ask him questions. You see you

have told him all this. You have told him that

jf

WW"- - i



WJRiWlAl.UU B??WfTfffi.EWf 4" 'CTs-"K-ar.- " -- . ftjK.fr.nw wfcin-r---- "

?;,, i:v
tyM 7 ii

4V f" jt w!. l$ 3r.AS':-:- .

,n, . i ..
,'

.- ---J J 14 w

:SVISIS ' V-- T
V f"j,,jljV.

" s$
R.H' ':sES

rA i. Jesn knew Lang and that swsehedy else knew Laag,

Yeu didntt ask him.

MR, KIER: I will ask him now.

BY MR. KIERj

Q, Does Joe know Lang? A Yes sir
fcC .

'1J
. : Q Does Piatt know Lang? A Yes, air,

Q, Does Byrne know Lang? A Yes, sir
q Boss Albreoht know Lang? A Yea, sir

0
M? BY MR. BOBTWICK:

p ? .V Q, Don't you know, as a matter of fact, that Byrne
for

met Lang the first time that night? A No, sir
Q, Bo you know of your own knowledge that he had

over known Lang hefbre that night?' A Yes, sir
BY THE FIRST JUROR:

&&"-- "

Q, You Bay you are 19 years old? A Yes, sir.
Q You Bay lr you know that Lang for how long?

A About 10 years

Q, 10 years? A Yes, sir.
Q When nine years old? A Yes, sir.
Q Prom aohool together? A Ho, sirW

Q, How did you know him? A Well on the street, after
school hours

Q In living around that section? A Yes , sir.
Q, What was your siokness in that saloon? A I was
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m i"Mlafnv Eyj&S s
'l"f

feeling 1X1 In tht stweaeh.
4r'f

ft;
q Threugfc the drinking? A Yes, air. .

"!'
.,

jSHL
t

V ,
Q, What did you drink? A Beer

Vfr' --aw
Q Nothing Taut "beer? A No, sir. ira- -

-- ii.
j

W
Q, When you left the saloon to go out- - into the doorway

were those Polacks what side were they on, in front of you, ii-- .
C? vlh

tx5?
&Wf

tr the left or right? A On the left hand side. rt
i

Kai
idhi- -

Q, Was Piatt there when you went out? A Ho, air . ..
1 'v :.--

WSJ
C He was not there? A Ho, sir. . . : T

P4- - 4 BY 'THE COURT:
NP.,

Q, What were the Polaoks fighting with? A I couldnit

oay what they wore fighting with.

i Were they beating each other or striking each other?

A Yes, air.
Q, WTere they fighting among themselves or fighting

somebody else, a third party? A Why they were fighting among v

th cms elves.

Q, Just among themselves? A Yea, air.
BY THE SEVEHTH JUROR:

fjjr Q Prom the time you entered thia Protection Hall

with Lang wero you separated at any time during the evening

until Lang waa put out? A Ho, air.
Q, You were together all the time? A Yea, air.
q How when you went out after Lang you walked right--



Jgr :v tkriugH thi yard during tklsXight? A Yes, sir. "',j!jpt
,

v Q DidnH stop to look at the fight? A No, ir.f t

.WHT2J. - '

q ' Walked oalmly out? A Yo, sir.
"H vfA

apk-- -

IRSDA 8 OHM IDT, a witness called on behalf ofth
defendantt "being duly sworn, testified an follows.

Ts&eCi
ff DIRECT EXAMINATION BY HH. KC5R: tern

L"& '.i

W''LAJ q Where do you live? A 531 Courtland avenue.

&&:&-.-? q lira. Sohmidt, is the defendant your son? A Yes, ,

m
,

--r:
,

sir.
q Your only son? A Yes, sir.

m- -

q Only child? A Yes, sir.
q Where do you live? A 531 Courtland avenue.

q Does he live with you? A Yes, Bir.

q How old is he? A 19.

q Now, up in the neighborhood of 152nd street and sWSBBB.

Courtland avenue how long havo you lived in that neighbor

hood? A About 15 years.

q Has this boy been living there with you all this timfc?

A y8 ir
q Does he work for a living? A ye8 flir

q Always worked sihoe ho left school? A Yes, eir

SV m
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IE '
Q After Hovembor 13th last year, two weoks after that pilsSSf

up until Do o ember let, the offioer visit your houBo to see

this boy about the case? sm
Wi--6 .?

MR, B0STV7ICIC: Objected to. 'gl
,t"v

m " '
V 51

THE COUHT: That ie not very material,
t' Q Were thoro any yieits cade fey anybody to your con

i TH.

fvduring thoae txo wocka? A What do you mean?
--

4.1 fl

Q Did the officer vioit your eon during the two weeks ? '
r a

1

A yes, oir. '

A
,rii

it .

Q, Were you present at pome corivoroation? A yob, oiri J

a

well he was in nx or ncven '.iraco in lay houne.o
Q Did you hear the officer ony anything?

(Ho answer).

Cl What did you -- icar '-l-

ie officer say. Toll what the

officer uaid? A Well, the officer said, he aHked my son

if he known where Iuig ief he didn't know, he couldn,t 3ay

fahere he ie; then he aaia X& JttSB that he thought my aon
BBSSBBMSbV

and Lang did it, and thought the bartender Albrooht done

it, becauae he yot a na3ty look, and mean look right in his
and

face from that ho thought that he done it,
Q, Who haa a nasty look? A Albrecht,

Bte ff" SbV

TILE COURT: Albrooht vmo one of the witnesses?

1JR. KISTrt: Yeo, sir.r
BY HR. KIER:
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-- . ' iK , t --w r " -- jt s ty. . v toV .sac. .. .xsfp$. & 1A iKHlBBHr Jklhr? " --

e-sp ;.". . .(!-- .
.

,'-'--- - . KJitnwaHa" , ; mam 'r.. --

.
' " ?.,hr.-- r ;y ''.. ',r

Q, Whirs was your boy, where was the defendant when

Br '
the officer cane these six or seven times? A ho w&a home

Once he had to wait he wasmt home from work, and a oouple
r

- of times he was washing himaolf ", he came Homo from work and he

was not. done. ,?- -, ' -

fii. Q He remained home for the offioer, didnt he, to seer '
T i ' .the officer? A Yes, sir, sure. i

A

!

,

Q Has he always been a good "boy? A Yes, sir, he
4'i

was always a good boy, always working and brings me home the '

t,
money, never keeps any money baok. A

Q You never had any trouble with him?A Never didf t

MR. BOSTWICK: Did the jury hear the first
part of her testimony. She spoke in rather a

1

low voioe?

TIER TOURT: If they did not we will have it
read.

THE FOREMAN: Yes, sir.

REV. WILLIAM THEODORE JUNGE, a wit
W

ness called on behalf of the defendant, being duly

aworn, testified as follows.

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. KIBR:

Q, Your address? A 385 East 105th streets
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aedr

:
Q Yeu are a minister of the Goipol? A Ye, air.

Q, Have you a church at that place ? A Where?
I- -

V
i Q Well up in the Bronx? A Yeat sir, in the fronx,"

&4
fl&fe

7 ' the ohuroh is on 156th otreet between Courtland and Morris

-- .. avenue.r !

SP s

Not the address you just gave? A No. sir that i '
. .

is the parsonage in the rear of the ohuroh. W1

Q, What is the name of- - the ohuroh? A St. Matthews

Evangelical Lutheran Church,

Q, Do you know the defendant Schmidt? A Yes, sir, I doi

Q How many years have you known him? A Well, I have

Q- -

known him about since I am up in the j$ronx. X

Q, That is going on A 10 years. He has "been

in the Sunday School.
i

fcK

Q, Do you know other people up there that know him?

A Yes sir.
Q Is his reputation for peace and quietness good

or had? A It is very good to my knowledge as I have never

heard anything against him, anything that he has ever committed

wrong it never came to my knowledge. LsssssMsflLssflLiLsV '

NO CROSS-EXAMINATI- ON. bbss VH H
' B
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- fA U H I E M U S ?, a vfitiicBB for the defendant V having

m--'- -

M& "boon duly sworn, testified as follows
'&

"--
:

w- - DIRECT EXA1ONATI01J J3Y im. KIER:','.
?

, Q "Whore do you live? A 344 East 14th street, ;

Q, A married lady, Utb. !ust? A YOB0 sir i
.

, . , ,

f"i- -

.
--u

hf "
Q Live with your -- husband' and family? A Yea.

: , V...'. . .
'

Q Do you know the defendant, Charles Sohmidt? -
"-!;- '.

fr'fer- - A Yes, sir, ? , --
"

. V

PK Q How long have you known him? A 8 years.

Q 8 years? A &es, sir,
:;

Q, Have you lived alongside of him? A Ki&ht next door,o;
q, How many yearn did you live alongcide of hira?

A Six years,

Q, Do you know other people in the neighborhood 'that

know him? A Yes, sir,
Q, What is his reputation among the neighbors for

peace, quietness and good order? A It is good,

q, A good boy? A Yes, sir.
US Kttfl: The defendant rests, I renew my

motion.
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REBUTTAL,

..

J 0 8 2 P H ZACHAR0W8KY, a witness for thepeople,
.-

-

recalled In rebuttal, teat ifled as follows, . '3 Iff

BY THE PIR8T JUROR:

Q, How one party says they were PolackB and we hear that

they were Bavarians Bavarians as a rule speak German?
ffi

A Yes sir. There wan no Polish people in the place
---

,.

whatever If I would he considered as a Polo I might he the

mr only one.

Q TOiat are you, what nationality originally? A Well ' ' ''--
3

i Y

I am a Persian,
' i '

Q, A Persian? A Yes, sir, near the Austrian boundary
'

!

I

line . .

Q You speak Polish? A Yes, sir,
Q Do you speak Bavarian?

3
(No answer),

' BMSBslBY MR. KIER: : '

Q, The foreman wants to know if you speak Bavarian?
t HPBBPBBBBH

A Yes, sir, I can understand it.
BY THE COURT:

Q There are a great many Polish people around yoirr neigh-

borhood?

ITlsfel ml
bKBbW -- B
BBHLBBBl 'BBBH

A Yes, sir,
Q, And they deal with you, lots of then? A YOO oi

Q They oome ino your place, plenty of them? A Ye olr
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te J
CI They are vtry welcoxaa there? A Yea, siri
Q On that night that yard door was open there? A Yee, t

air. Cr J
" iq Anyoooy oouxa come in tnere ail during the evening?" .' ;.

's--
V

A' yob air
. "

Q, Polaoka or anything elae? A Yes, sir. 'i
J$br
kt- -

Q This vmn the only door open? A yea, air,
1

fv
BY THE COURT: i

?..
hy

--. Q You apeak Polish? A Yea, air,
. Q, Did moat of those Bavarians up there apeak Polish?

A Hot one

Q How many were there? A To my knowledge the party

oonaisted of about f5 to 70 people,

Q Now you gave the name of the society the other

day, what was it? A Well this ia a party that cornea from

154th atreet, one ia name Fiaher, and another lady, they are

Bavarian people from the neighborhood together and they were H 'eeeM Lfl

celebrating what they call TCurfirie which meana aa much aa

the Harveat Festival. eeeVB
to BY MR, KIERJ

eLB Ls 'q Mr. Joe, the language they were npoaking was not eiim

the Oeman language? A Yea, air.
Q Wao it a dialect of the Gorman Bavarian ia not

Oorman, ia it? A Yoa, air, exactly.
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Q One of the dialects? A Yes, sir, exactly Gorman.

Q, What I mean to say Is a person who is a German

would he understand it would any German understand it.?iS
A yob , sir

Q How many dialocts have they? A I don't know, I am

not a linguist.
BY THE COURT: J

(fc Now the material part of it getting right down to fthe time that you were standing near tho door, standing
1
Inear the door, the time that you were standing near the door

and heard the orask and went out and immediately found Piatt
.

lying on the ground. Now, did you testify that you saw some- - i
body in thatyard at hat time? A I didn t testify to such

- t
a kind, your Honor -- - I only seen thorn two defendants running

out of tho door.

Q Bid you see them running out the gate? A Yes , air.
I did.

Q, Who was standing near you at the time you saw the

two defendants, Schmidt and IAng, running out of the yard?

A The witness Jacob Albrecht.

131Q Whereabouts? A He stood alongside of me.

Q How about Byrne? A I oouldnft recollect that; I

couldnit notice, it was so quick, I oouldntt pay no attention

only to what was in my mind eye.
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.:

Q Who was the man pushed in the ohest when you shut the
B3R r

B doorl A the defendant Schmidt because i.t was he stood- tir
right in the door. He says, "Come out, we will trim you

j

in the yard". Z pushed him back and I says "Don't push me,

walk. about your business, what is the matter with you", I
caught hold of the door and tried to shut the door--

Q, This was in the hallway right upagainst the door?
M

A Ho, sir, this was not in the hallway, this was in the little
partition, this was between the yard and the hallway here,

right here in this door. (Indicating)

Q Indicating door "A"? A yes, sir, right in this
5 J

door. The defendant stood right here, right in the open

door, I could take the door out of his hand.

Q What was he trying to do? A Well, he asked anybody

to comeout in the yard to trim him. I pushed him back and

tried to shut the door when the araak was delivered.

Q Who did he speak to when he said he wanted him to

come out? A He was speaking generally to anybody, I didn't

know what was happened before that time beoause I was serving
V

the suppers. He said, "Come out there, we will trim you".

Q, Do you say that the man whom you pushed out of the

door was drunk? A No, sir, I didnt say that.
q, Would you say that? A Well I oouldn'j't say that he



'W' '.?7
.TH

V;'.,

f,.--. ;,.v
'"-- .;war exactly drunk, he might he a little under the inf luwee.

", ... j3s: Q, He got the liquor in your place,, didnft he?
?
iiti A .He got beer, no liquor m

Q This young hoy was an hour and a half in your place? &
'BUM''

A He is not a boy
:

.

BY" THE FIFTH JUROR:

i.

Q Can you tell ua the reason these two men Schmidt and
'

Lang were ordered out of your place? A Well out-o- f my

know35dge I cannot tell you.
mk:
$&$':: THE COURT: He can testify only of hie own .'.-- .

.'
knowledge. I'

THE WITNESS: I cannot testify from nyw
knov; ledge.

MR. BOSTWICK: He was not present.

THE WITNESS: I was not present because I was

attending to the suppers in the back of the diningroom

I waB just getting the waiters ready and serving the
iMpHHH .- -

people in the back diningroom in the big dining

room.

BY THE THIRD JUROR:

Q, ThiB man Albrecht how long has he been in your em-

ploy, working steadily for you? A No, sir, he did noti

Q Just hired him for that night? A He comes before

in my place, he is employed by another man and I had at that
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.WK.iwuwm,1 jAjTZ i ' iii n iiM ,
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HiiiisSUBMr V. .

BBBBraF'' ".

BBCf'
BBflKrr

' Hi i- -

tie a new helper, a new porter, and Z asked hli, beeause ne
- I

iBF is a handy man I nays, Jake, will you "bo kind enough to help i

bo along, I got a new porter", I want him to give him all fc-V- a

the points that is necessary, to help trie along with everything

to see that it is in proper shape, bo I hired him for. that

special occasion.

Q, In what capacity was he employed for that night,

to keep order? A No, sir, not to keep order. He was showing'

this new man what he was to do. If they wont a quarter of "beer

to he tapped upstairs he should show him how the hear is get-

ting

J

tapped, and that everything is going in proper shape, .

Q, Doing general work? A Yes, sir,
Q Everything that he saw tc do? A Yes, sir because he

knows my place, knows the place and knows what is to be done

1
BY THE FOURTH JUHOR:

I don it remember whether you testified that you were
'bbbVbbbsS

present when Lang was ordered out? A Ho, sir, I did not
Hbbbbbj s

testify to that.
Q You didn,t see Schmidt go out of the door? A No, sir-,- ,

w only seen him when I was attending to the suppers j I donit

know for what reason that happens at that time. I only know C '
that there is something going on when I stood in front of

that door and tried to collect the amount for the suppers.;
B ' tr B B

I heard seme kind of a noise.
w bbbVWbbi

BBVSSHP bB



mUms. a . k-?-

M

.Wi. t C '

!&&$ ,,. ..-.- . ;'V:'-- " -- 'W''f-v- ' 5f isw.
nmmV w4'S?' t 'feat. kl4 if a usist? jft '"
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I tpeaed the doer to find out. W' i
Q What did it aound like, a number of people? A No, air i

i-- only one he was only one who makes a noise.
i? ' .

A"

By MR. KIER: -

r -
jffltagfcisa&y- -

O TXThor f-Vt- M nranh rnmf9 .A Wn. bt "hir i a tiA vkbiVi wwmWaOlfL

--,
Q, When the treats were made? A Yes, oir, when the

m
w treats was made I found there were threat made "Anybody oomm'

'-:-

-$t '&'."'. '

"'' 's V- - C
i
2 out to trim himH. -

--'& v. -- ;''
t.

fcfJ- - Q That was what first attratced your attention to the ksMI
rt

yard? A yos, sir, .
,

C i Q You heard somebody talking outside the door? "" H

A Yes, sir. ..m
C The door was open? A Yob, sir, he held the door oppnt

W- -

and stood right in the open door,

BY THE COURT: -

Q, You say, ho stood there, was his hand on the knob?

A Yes, sir, I oaught hold of his hand, pushed him back,

I oaught hold of the door from his hand and I said "Get baok

there, go home."

BY A JUROR:

Q Did you close the door fully? A No, sir.
Q, THB door waa still open with has hand on the knob?

A No, sir, the door was about three quarters closed when

the a rash came.

(kv
r:.

lkI. "

' iS"
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' ,
A No, air. the door wa between me

- V

CU ',

$ When you closed the door three-quarte- rs he was outeide M

1Aw "i

fc tho door? A yes air I was inside

Still holding the door when you heard the crash?

A Ho, sir he dicta, t hold the door no more $ygpv'- - '
--5pm Q, Didi you see him? A I oouldntt eee him then he cause nf-'i- -

"
.i-m-V-

-r

.it was so quick, as soon as I made the swing I could not see l" I
-

-

him because he stood between the door and hetwwen rae.
s

BT MR. KIER:
"'J

Q When you heard the crash this man was right there

alongside of you? A No, sir, not alongside of rae.

i

This ATbrecht who works around there did you hoar

anything about the officer wanting him, you hadn't heard that?
A No, sir.

Q, How long is Albreoht working there for you as assistant

bartender or whatever he does, handy man? K Well he was

only helping me out. ifBpBBBBI

Q How many times does he help you out? A Occasionally

when I need him.
'aaaaaw1 .H

S5y
Q, What length of time has he been doing that for you?

A Sometimes once or twice a week , sometimes X dont get him

probably once in three weoks.
4

Q For the period of a year or two he has been doing

that? A No sir.
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"h
Q A prttty goo A friend of your, isntt he? A Beeause IP- -

i''" if A sometimes he has sot different engagement!.

m" Q, He has no regular oooupation? A I don't know.

THE COURT; Any question that the jury or

any member of tho jury might wish to have cleared
up by the testimony of any witnoBB on either sideSi

y, v we will return him to the stand and further in

terrogate him, any witness

CHARLES SCHMIDT, the defendant , recalled.
BY A JUROR!

"v

Q You heard it testified that Lang was six months in

the Penitentiary or somewhere? A Yes, sir.
Q Did you miss him during tho time, you said you knew

him 10 years? A Well, I didn,t know where he was.

Q, Did you miss him? A Well, I didn't miss him, no,

air, he was no pal of mine or anything; I didntt have to

go around with him.

13? Q How many times did you say you saw Lang when you did

see him? A Through what time?

Q You said you saw Lang often, how often did you ace him?

A Once or twioe a week.

Q You didn,t see him for six months? A Six months.
TEfSTBJONY CLOSED.

-- & H



PWv,- - ' '" ""' "-v-

- f --
s

B"-'--
' ? q T cnpaxa wrong. .. . , .JvC&; i

SPF ' -

P T H C 0 U tf T 8 C H A R 0 B. - "

K .-.-

..

. ' ' h&,'ht'--

ill

'
EL ":h''-'- " 'r?

swank, j.- -
res"'1;

Qentlemen of the Jury:
w

The defendant, Charles Schmidt, is on trial "before .
' fy-- . -

IE' "

you under an indictment which charges robbery and on
i "a. , ' .

the same state of facts charges ascault in the second

degree.

The first count has "been withdrawn from your con- - - v

oidorat ion. All of the counts of the indictment are

withdrawn from your conoid oration except the c.ount charge
.?v

ing assault in the second degree upon one Piatt who has
f

testified here "before you and the testimony of tho phy-

sicians who treated him has also "been produced here on

the trial of this case.
HM

The defendant, Schmidt, is indicted Jointly with

another named Lang, but each demands a separate trial
of his case, and under the lay each is entitled to it
as a matter of right. Therefore they must he tried

separately otherwise they would ho tried Jointly and

both would be now on trial boforc.you.
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It is alleged by the People's witnesses that the
I lo.

K, t aexplaining witness, Piatt, was injured in the left tide of
SSkESSS

his head on the early morning of November 14, 1909 at i?

the premises 152nd street and Court landt avenue, those
LIa

premises heing known as Protection Hall, of which Fi'H '

. m

Mr Joseph JSacharaowsky, who has "boon a witness here

before you is the proprietor. Just at what hour it t
i

-

i

occurred I do not recall "but anyway to my best recollec-

tion

. V . . '

'; .:

it was somewhere around one o'clock in the morning

It may be a little later, it may be a littlo earlier
taut you will remember the testimony and not take any of t

!

the facta of the case from the Court, merely take

the law,

I shall have to review the testimony slightly in

order to apply the lav to the facts or the testimony

as I have hoard it, but in the last analysis you are

to determine what the evidence was, what the evidence

proved and apply the law as I vill explain it to you.

It was found that certain money amounting to about 'H ep flv S

7,00 had boon abstracted from Piatt1 o pecket eometime

after he war. struck, but there is nothing whatever to

connect this defendant or the defendant Tang with the,

abstracting of tiat money, because nobody saw Lang or

Schmidt touch the body of Piatt. The testimony, on the

part of the People's witnesses, is that Lang and Boh- -
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tea.?it for inm reason or othtr whleh Schmidt says he does

not know were ordered out of the saloon Piatt was

put out or the saloon by a Bavarian who seems, from the
w" testimony, to have been some one in authority with the

P $ Bavarian Sooiety which was holding ameeting upstairs

in the ballroom. Then the defendant Sohmidt was

requested by Albreoht also to go out and he did go out

The proprietor says that after Sohmidt got out he come
u--

back, opened the door, held his hand on the knob and

gave an invitation to anybody in there to come out and

get lioked or "trimmed11 I think was the expression used

"come out and get trimmed", and he not wishing to have

any altercation or any fuss in his place, as a matter

of business, insisted upon Sohmidt going out and he

assisted him to get out. He closed the door partially

in Schmidt's face and he says that while he stood there

and within a few seconds afterwardshe heard what he calls

a crash and the other witness Byrne testifies that ho

heard it also. Albreoht testified that he heard this

noise and Byrne's says that Albreoht shoved him aside,

went out and found Piatt lying prostrate on the ground.

Byrne's says he went out after that and saw Albreoht

holding Piatt in his arms, Albreoht says that immed-

iately upon going out that the first thing he saw was
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i the defendant Sokmidt and Xwig fleeing across the yard

in a direction opposite from that in whioh the prostrate-"bod- y

?i
' of Piatt was lying and that he saw them make

?' i i. their exit from the yard. He says he did not hoar
V

them utter-an- y sound; he oays there was nobody else in
f

'

the yard except these men who were in flight. The ."...

proprietor also says that he saw them in flight and

SV- - there was nobody else in the yard at that time, exoept
s'-- - '
ft- -'

Bsa-- .

the prostrate body of Piatt. Byrne says his atten-

tion was so oallod toward Piatt that ho did not observe f
I

anything else. He says he saw Albreoht stopping down 4

over the prostrate body of Piatt and that, is all that

attraoted his attention; he said he didnt pay any

attention to anything else ao that he did not testify
to having 3een anybody else in the yard. He eaid hie

attention wan not called to that, that his attention

was eo centered upon the injured man that he did not

pay attention to anything else.

Now, the defendant 8ohmidt sayo that he went out

sometime before that and that when he went out he walked

out in an orderly manner, he went through the door that

they aay he went through but that he did not see

Piatt in theyard at all but saw approximately 10 Polacks

in a fight; ho does not know who they wore fighting

with, but they were fighting and he walked along through
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the yard and. that he net Iaag on the outside aad the - I

then went to their respective hones There was

a witness by the name of Prey who says that at about fr

I that time he saw the two defendants, Lang and Schmidt,

walking rapidly in a westerly direction through

ltilst street.
There haB he on something said here by counsel in

regard to lack of motive on the part of Iang and on K -

the part of Schmidt to attack Piatt. It in a princi-

ple
I

of law that motive is not necessary. It is not nec-

essary to show any motive A man may do an aot without

a motive. Now motive is a very persuasive thing. We

.oually act in human affairs through some motive. We

may do a thing maliciously without a motive hut we usual-l-y

aot "by motive. There has "been evidence here that these

men had "been ordered out of the saloon and of course ,

the jury would be justified, if in their wisdom they

think it proper to do so, to find that in all human ex-

perience1

bbx bvj

when a man is ordered out of a place , out of a
bbbtj1- - bj

saloon, it causes a spirit of resentment. Now mind you,

gentlemen, I do not ouggest to you how you should reason

You are representative wen in this ootnmunity and you

are put there to reason with your own good minds.

All the Court can do is to diocuss these matters with

i BBBBnBBJ
JLBBWfl
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yeu. You are not under any obligation to take what

you may dean to "be my view of this case If you think

that I have a view as to the guilt or innocence of any

)h- - defendant who nay come before you for trial it is your

duty to eliminate that and find your verdict upon your

own unbiased judgment unaided by the faot that you think
ffW "r that the Judge or the lawyers may have a different view

from yours- - You hold your own views on this subject

I do not nean to say that each individual juror must be

perverse or stubborn in regard to his views because

we have one view and then when we hear argument a lighl.

St strikes in on us and we say "I was wrong in the' first
instance, that is the way to act. When you really

believe yon are wrong in your first conception of the

oaee why you must readily change it to what you finally

believe to be right and let your verdict be based upon

that, Po not let any gentleman hang a jury, as it is

known, because he feels he ought to stick to his first
impression. You know that in our human affairs som-

etimes our first impressions are right, sonstimos wrong.
w

Let us be candid with each othor and if we are wrong

and our fellou jurors through their arguments or oalling '

iiv B

attention to certain facto make us believe that out

original conception of the oa3e was wrong admit that we
i fl r H
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.- - ' wtra wrsiig and go right' over to thea and Bay Yaa you

ara right on thia", and base your verdiot that way.

M The Court in reviewing this evidence in a cursory
&

manner has not any desire to persuade you either one way-o- r

the other. It is not proper that I should. you

are the sole arbiters of the faots. Yom are the

judges of the faots as I am of the law. You will take

the law from me and then you will find the portions of

the evidence that you think are worthy of "belief. if:

The question of motive ,. as I sayt of course , is
very persuasive one way or the other. If there was a

t a

IKi
.direct challenge to this manPlatt to come out and get !H&

'-.t-

SJ trimmed there would ho decided motive, but, as I under-

stand

'$gk

it, there was no invitation to any particular per

son to come out to get trimmed but to anybody.

Counsel has argued and the testimony here is that 'tV

both Schmidt and Lang were drinking, Of course, it
may be that they were what is known as fighting drunkt- -

that is sometimes the case, fight anybody who comes

along especially if you have been incensed by being

thrown out of a place, lick anybody that oomeB out of

the plaoe That may be the case; I don.t know; it
is all for you.

There is evidence here that the Bavarian was

very offensive to one of them. It was dark and it may
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--a W, of oourjii it Is for you to Bay, that they thought lio
I

. 10.Piatt was tho Bavarian that they wanted to trial it
was dark there It may he that they had no resentment

against Piatt whatever If you find that they had no I
tvintention to hurt Piatt or even would not have struck Piatt f

' , ;v. .
at

under any circumstanoes had they known it to he Piatt
nevertheless if you find that they had an intention

.I
"KU

to strike any human being, who ever he was, man , woman

or ohild, and that this defendant directly or indirectly

aided and abetted in the striking of that "blow why, of

course, you will find the defendant guilty If the

-
two together, lang and Sohmidt, decided they would trim any.1!

--t SV

4 i
'J

body who came out of that saloon "by throwing a stone 3
at him, striking him with a stone, and they decided

that at the spur of the moment, both dooided that it
should he done, and Sohmidt went to the door and gave

the invitation to come out, as tho proprietor said he

did, and that thereafter Lang throw the stone why, if
H flHB B

there was a preconcerted plan to throw the stone at th

man who came out, at any man that came out, or- - oome

s particular man that might oome out, the defendant would
.BIB l rHJE1 mH H i

he just ao guilty as the man who threw the stone It
in not nooessary in order to moke a man guilty that he HH.J
himself should do tho overt act It is only necessary

that there should ho a preconcerted common intent that

t slaBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBaklBBBBBl
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the act should be committed and if the defendant aVdod,
A PMSftB

abetted, advised or suggested, and his act constituted
ome olemekfc toward the commission of the crime, such -- i'

i

as the opening at the door, making the invitation for any--
r

If r k '

body to oomo out that wished to oome out and get. trimmed f 5f
ha would be just ao guilty as the man who threw the stone A '

J

WTiat is assault in the oocond degree?
ic

Assault in the second degree defined by the Penal Law

as follows: V

nA person who wilfully and wrongfully wounds or in-

flicts

M

A
4grievous bodily harm upon another cither with or I
i

Yithout a weapon, or who wilfully and wrongfully as-

saults

i

1

another by the uso of a weapon or other instrument

or thing likely to produce grievous bodily harm is guilty

of assault in the second degree1' The evidence of the

physicians in this case is that there was grievous bodily

haim inflicted upon the complaining witness Piatt, They

have testified to you a part of his skull had to be re-

moved on account of the presnuro of the bone of' the

skull against the nian's brain and that the injury

is, according to my recollection is permanent in its
nature.

How by Section fftZ of the Ponal Law gives the follow-

ing definition of a principal: B w Ef H



inw. i.'hv "A perse oemeerata in the commission of a crimewr m, v

wpksb IV i. S.1

whether he directly commits the act constituting the of

fcnse or aids and abets in its commission and a person

who advises f counsels , or procures another to commit a
h r

f . I crime is a principal"
Sfc

Let us go hack to the question of motirc which has

been discussed "by the defendant d counsel. Motive is Jit t5 s '

a question that may he debated "by the jury on "both sides.
f ,

--?" f
.--
? - What motive had the defendant for striking the "blow?
tap
s - I have already debated that with you Let us go on

TOt, the other side and see if the jury can find any motive on
fef

the part of the saloon keeper, or on the part of 'Byrne ,

or on the part of Albreoht for testifying as they did

that they saw these men fleeing through the yard Was

there anything in the evidence which suggests to the

jury a motive on the part of these witnesses to testify
falsely in that regard. They have testified to their
sense of vision , something that struck their sense of

vision. Both the saloon keeper and Albrcent testify po-

sitively that they saw these two men. Was there anything

in their testimony which leads the Jury to believe that

these men had a motive for
r

testifying falsely against the HI
defendant and the other defendant Lang or that thoj' were

mistaken in the men. Why you oan debate the motive
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n teeth sides. As say motive is not necessary IWt

io.eleaenta of the crime but It aav be
X

uajcen xnto consideration by the Jury in determining whether !

any crime vras committed or not. It is not a necessary '" Si '

' 'iSBslipf 'I S-T- tf 1

V.& element. As I say, a crime may be committed withoutIX,
ere

any motive whatever.
'"BJSJJ

mm:Ukxne jaw provides that a defendant in a criminal "
SlffTi jTt'

V action is presumed to be innocent until the contrary

bo proved and in oaso of a reasonable doubt whether his SBf ---
L

"4 'S&"..

guilt is satisfactorily shown to the Jury he is entitlod iTjB;
u ,

to an acquittal.

Arc there any requests to charge?

MR. KIER: I take an exception to the charge as
f

' given, to the whole charge.

THE COURT: Well some part of it was right.
MR. KH3R: Yes, sir but I think you have argued

the case of the people strongly and neglected the case

of the defendant.
(

THE COURT: Well in what respect, for instance.

Call my attention to it a little more specifically. VjBBBBhb9 BlM

MR. KIER: I think your Honor put a great deal BBBPBBBBBBbV '

of emphasis on all the testimony of the people's case

and you have neglected to argue any of our side.

THE COURT; Let us oca, for instance , what you

thlnlf I should have stated in regard to the defendant! i

i IMbsmH
BBBBi" BBBb
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ease. ,

MR, XTERi You gave very little attention .to his

defense.

THE COURT: Such as what, for instance? You just
5w

state to the jury what you think I should have said

in reviewing in a very cursory manner the evidence in

the case what I should have stated. I said that the

defendant was the only witness for himself. I reviewed

the testimony of te other witnesses' for the prosecution
I

They were more numerous and therefore took up more time

necessarily in reviewing their testimony than to review

the testimony of one witness. If thore is any material

part of it- - which you think I have omitted I would like to

review that.
MR. KIER: Now your Honor , I wish to say this

to begin with that Piatt in the man who was hurt,

Piatt said he heard no threat. He was right at the

place and ho heard no threat against himself or anybody,

Piatt also said he had nothing against this man and that

he stood five minutes right there inside the door; he

didn't see anybody in the yard, also he did not see

this man Schmidt in the yard. Of course, the number of

witness have not so much to do with the case, there may

be a great number of witnesses on one aide and still the

truth be on the other. At the same time the fact
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that Jo and hi b own employee, the bartender, they are

the principal ones that are telling the story in this
case and outside of them there is practically no other
testimony. There is very little corroborating test i
mony. It is ATbrocht, the employee and the em-

ployer Joe who tell the whole story.

THE COURT: It ooours to me that the material '

fK--
.part of the defendant's testimony was stated to the

jury. I did not take up one fact after another. I

came right down to a few seconds "before and after the

commission of the apt "by some one. How I ho re upon the
!

defendant's statement and stated to the jury that the

defendant 8 testimony was that he went out, that
'Sif

he was ordered out, that he was assisted out hy Albreoht

and that he did walk through the yard.

1R. KIER: And about his being sick.

THE COURT: Is that very material?

UR. KIER: But your Honor here was a siok man,

he was vomiting there.

THE COURT: He walked through the yard. He says

& that he saw Polaoks fighting there; that he met Lang

out on 152nd street and they went to their respective

homes. If you would like the stenographer to read that

you will find that that is about what I oaid. That

is the material part of it and the balance of it, being
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1
B en the sidewalk some two or three hours before that does
aw; -

not hoar directly upon the case and it was not nooessary
WE? f

K
for me to review that , hut if there is anything that he

said that I omitted for instance , I fold the jury that
he oaid ho knew of no reason why they should order him

out or why thoy. should order his friend Lang out, he t
1

knew no reaoon why that ohould be done. I do not know f" :- -

of any other material part of hio testimony that I did

not touch upon. It wao done in a very cursory mariner

because I cannot, go over all the testimony.

MR. KI"KR: The real man ordered out was Lang.

He wae the man who had the trouble upstairs. This man

had no trouble, ho happened to be with him. He had

no trouble with anybody. Lang had the trouble with

the man upstairs. After Lang was ordered out this
young man took hold of his coat- - and aaid, "You get out",

thero was nothing to show that there was any strong desiro

to get this man out. Lang was the man who was ordered

out. Lang wao the man who had the trouble. Then a

man goee over to him and says, "You get out too". I

wish your Honor to say to this Jury that where good

character is shown that it may be takon into considera-

tion by the Jury to euch an oxtont that they may dis-

believe the other testimony for the People and believe the
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TH$ COURT: Wall, proof of Good character if it is

satisfactory to the jury of course oan be taken Into

consideration by the Jury, should be taken into consider-

ation
I

"by the jury. The jury may find that notwithstand-

ing the previous good character of the ' defendant or of a

witnesB9 the excellent reputation in the community, previoUfl

character, unblemished, they may yet find from the facts

that the defendant was guilty of the crime charged
i

MR. KIER: Will your Honor charge in my language

that where good character where the defendant proves

good character the jury may disbelieve the testimony, all
the testimony of the people's witnesses and find the

defendant not guilty.

THE COURT: They can do that without any proof of

good character.

MR. KIER: Will your Honor charge in that language?

THE COURT: Yes, I will so charge. I do so charge.

I also state to the jury that there is no hard and fast

rule. It is for you to determine who is telling the truth

You may determine that in the way hat you in your good

judgment deem best. You may take your own good judg-

ment and guide yourselves entirely by that without any
4

hard or fast rule of law there is none. There is
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nt rule of law nobody can tell you hew to arrire at ( i

.

s the truth You can do that from your own experience

in the government of your own personal affairs of a
ft

more serious nature in life, from your exporiendes in. fe li

oontaot with men. of oourso, if in any case the --""2K A.

'l'
character witnesses satisfy your minds that the defendant

1b of previous good, unblemished character both for truth
and veracity and for poaoo and quiet why you are entitled
to give that all the weight that in your good Judgment

you deem best. You can give it just such weight as

in your judgment you deem best. You are not bound to :

do anything you do not deem proper.

MR. KIER: I respectfully except to the latter
remark of the Court and to your Honor's refusal to

charge and I take an exception to the general charge.

MR. BOSTWICK: I request your Honor to charge

that if they disbelieve any witness as having told or given
t jESEsSjsgjgaBBSk

false testimony they can disregard the entire testimony

of such witness as to a material fact.
THE COURT: If you believe that any witness who has

V

appeared before you on either side has knowingly and
BBBBta BBB !

wilfully testified falsely to a material fact you would
bbbbbbv'bbbI IbbI

be justified in putting aside all of tho evidence of

that witness, entirely disregarding all of his testimony LmLSBBBM
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At the same tlas you would "be also justified t'if. iin your
aft! SHHBIjudgment you doom it proper and fit to do so9 to eliminate

only those parts of the testimony which are untruthful,

in your judgment and base your vordiot upon the parts of

the testimony of the witness jrou doom worthy of belief
tv
.1

In other words there is no hard and fast rule to tell
you how to arrive at the truth. You know as men of

common experience that there is no way to look at a man's"

faoe to tell whether he is telling the truth. The only

thing is you have to take many little facts. into co-

nsideration and determine it for yourselves, arrive at

it in such an intuitive manner and after reasoning in

the best manner that you know how determine who io telling

the truth and "base your verdict on thoBe parts of the evi-

dence you think are truthful an render your verdict ac-

cordingly.

Your verdict will be either not guilty or guilty

of assault in the second degree or if in your judgment

you deem the wound bo slight you may bring in a verdiot

of guilty of assault in the third degree which is a

mere misdemeanor. So that your verdiot will be not

guilty, guilty of assault in the second degree or guilty

of assault in the third degree,

(The jury retire and return in to court state that
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they find the defendant , Charles Schmidt, guilty of

IF assault In the third degree with an earnest recommendation

to the Court for elemeney. )

pi ":
'

(The Jury was polled and severally confirmed their
verdict )

nitP WR. KTJ3R: Now, your Honor, tho defendant moves

the Court for a now trial for the following reasons:

First tho vcrdiot is against: hc evidence! secondly,

the verdict is against the law, thirdly, tho learned

Tndgo erred when he refused to direct tho Jury at the

end of the people's case to render a verdict of not

guilty of tho charge of assault in the second degree

having taken the other counts frorc Min jury.

T also move in arrest of judgment for all the

reasons sot forth in tho rode of Criminal Procedure.

I have ooino thought in relation to a certificate

of reasonable doubt and would your Honor let this matter

stand over for a few days at the convenience of your

Honor?

TJT73 rOTITlT: How nuoh tine would you like?fV
R. KIKR: About Wednesday.

(The defendant remanded until Wednesday, January

19th).
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